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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Tha Dlractors pressni thel Strategic Report for the year ended 31 May 2021.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

Xeinadin ig & leading professional servioes platiorm providing a full suke of accountancy, tax and other business advisory
sarvices fo entrepraneurs, SME's, corporafions and not-for-profit organisalions situated throughout the Unlted Kingdom
(UK) and the Repubilc of ireland (RO, Through unmatched collaboration and Innavation, we suppart and inspke clients
to reach thelr strategic businass goals or accomplish the mission of thelr arganisation.

Our focus is on SME market clients and curmently we advise over 50,000 clients across a wide range of sectors. Our vision
Is to be the mast trusted business advisor and eccountant for small and madium sized amierprises, Xeingdin interacts as
@ trusted advisor, partner and support network delivering an innovative approach blending our technical and specialist
knowledge together with technology to provide data driven advice to dients in & local savironment,

FORMATION AND CORPORATE ACTMITY

The Group was formed on 1 June 2019 by the combination of 115 small and medium aized accountancy practices, in the
intervening two years the business combination in iis new cormporats environment has traded very succeesfully. A smal
number of member offices took tha decision to exit the Group elthar via the voluntery exit window or as aliowsd by the
Xeinadin Board. In the year to 31 May 2021 nine member offices (2020: four) extted the Group, mostly because they were
not sulted 1o or did not appreciate the benefits arising from the coporats environment of the Group, The voluniary exit
window is now clossd and all member offices are committed to membership of the Group unless permission {o laave is
grantsd by the Xeinadin Group. Tha Group is exploring souee of funding which wil enable the minority interests of the
membars o be aoquiad sa that afl the benafits of full consolidation oan be pursued for tha benafit of our dlenis, The Group
Is in negotiation with polential new targst firms 10 join the Graup and intends 1o pureue further opportunities over the next
12 manths with tha longer term objective of being a significant consolidator In the sactor,

TRADING ENVIRONMENT

The year ended 31 May 2021 experienced the full Impact of Covid 18 and the uncertainty In the business world derlving
from Brexit. The Covid 19 pandemic and the sefles of iockdowns did have a significant impact on the business
performance. in tha first quartar many of our colleagues were fudoughed resuling in reducad etaff and a disruption to
nomal activity lovols as many of our ollents soaled baok thelr own businessas. While tha seonomy has proved exromely
raslient and our revenues hald up mainly vary wel, our offices In the ravei and hoepitekly Industry were impacted
throughout the full year. Government support has heiped aimost all our clients to ramain in business, but we have
axparienced a slowdown In workstreams such as fling accountz, particularty ss Companies House extended deadlinas
with & resulting delay In revenue. However, this 8 not lost iIncome as we expect to benefit from this backlog in this current
financlal year.

During the 2021 trading year our trusted advisory teams have provided Invaluable support to our clients %o help cur dients
accass varlous Brexit and Covid supporis. These supporis were vital b our clienis and this help has further strengthened
that rusted relationship with them. Our team of advisors have shown exiraordirary commitment and resllience having to
move aimost ovemight 1o remote working and continue 1o provide a seamless sarvice (0 clents. The use of video
conferencing es a communkation fool has played a vital role in communicating with cllents but also internally In connecting
the experiise and spacialists within the Xeinadin Group.,

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial performance

Revenue for the yesr at £104.1m (2020 £110.3m) was in line with budget expectations, following a reforecast of the budget
to take account of the pandemic effects. Excluding the impact of the exited offices, Group rovenue for the year was
constant, a very resilient performance bearing in mind as described above, tha iImpact of the Covid 19 pandemic and in
particuiar a delay in the normal accountancy and tax work due to filng deadline extensions.

The main measures of the Group's performance are Revenue, Operating Profit and Eamings before, non-trading items,
Intereet, Taxation, Depreclation and Amortisation {EBITDA). EBITDA for the year was £34.8m (2020 £39.0m). The
reduction In EBITDA of £5.1m Is due to the profit impact of the reduction In tumover of £7.3m, largaly due o the axites
firms and the effects of Covid 18, offeet by an inoreasa In other oparating income.

EBITDA reconciled 1o profit after tax as follows 2021 2020
. fm £m
EBITDA 348 309
Amortisation of intangible Fixed Assets (9.4) (10.2)
Depreciation of Tanglble Fixed Assats/Right of Lise Assets {2.6) {2.3)
Financial scttiomant 3.1 -
Interest (0.3) {0.3)
Loss on Disposal of Subsidiaries (16.3} €13.1)
Taxation {6.4) {4.4)
{Loas)Profit after Taxation {3.3) 9.8
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

The loss for the year of £3.3m is after deduating £18.8m of non-trading and exceptional items in ralation to ihe loss on
dispesal of nine subsidiaries {£16.3m loss on disposai, net of £0.8m release of deferred taxes on acquired intangibies) and
financial sstiiement costs of £3.1m. The subsidiares that left the Group had previously joined without cash consideration
being paid and aiso left the Group for no consideration, further information is set out in note & and note 16. Further
Information on the financial setiement costs are set out in note 7.

Ag shown on page 14 the trading profit for the year amounts to £22.7m {2020: £27.4m) which as & parcentage of
tumoaver Is 21,8% (2020: 24.8%). The reduced margin was as expected 2nd as per budgeted essumptions as the
smployees who weta historically partners in thelr own husinesses moved towards market value salaries as employess of
the business,

Trading profits exchuding the exited fivms Le. on the basis of the 102 offices that remained in the businesa at the balance
sheet date can be exprassad as follows:

2021 2020

£m £m
Revenue 100.8 100.0
EBITDA 342 38.3

The reduction in EBITDA of £2.1m Is largely due io an Increase in overall expendiure of £3.6m Jess the inorease in other
oparating income of £1.2m. The incresse In axpenditure I8 largely due to the Increese in ealary cosis as explainsd above.

Since the year end, the Group hes continued 1o trade successfully with all key KPls being materially maintained. Thare
have been no further exits from the Group since yesr end,

Financial position

The consolidated statement of financial posttion on page 18 shows the Group financlal posltion st the year end. The
Group's financial position was coneiderad strong in terms of working capital and cash and the Direclors belleve the Group
to be well positioned for future growth,

The major changes In the Group's inanciel position during the year wers as follows!

The movement in goodwill relates to addittons made during the year of £0.5m, net of goaodwiti disposed of In respect of
axited fims £6.9m.

Other intangibles show a reduction of £0.4m for amortisation and £4.9m In reapect of ihe nine member firms exiting the

Group.

Right of use assats includes naw lemses taken out during the year of £2.2m, net of depreciation and exchange diffiersnces
of £2.0m and asset disposals of £0.7m, .

The average credit period on trade recelvables was 71 days (2020: 68 days) and for contract assats 38 days (2020: 34
days), the Increase in the number of lockup daye wes largsly due to the impact of Covii-19,

Trade and othor payables show & reduction of £5.4m which was largely due to & reduction in accruals and other craditors
paysble of £2.9m.

The provision for deferred tax includes the release of £2.5m for disposals and amarisation, offeet by an increasae of £3.1m
due to the anactment In tax rate to 25% from 1 Aprli 2023,

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Bueiness risk

The Group ie In the process of Implamenting & new hub structute compriging fourteen Reglonal Hubs acrosa the UK end
gelmhh structura aims to optimise span of oontrol and idantify oppartunities for both Revenue Growth and Cost

yn \
Risk management B an Importent slement of the management prosess throughout the Group, and infernal controla have
been developed and are continuously reviewed to address the principal business risk which Is considered to be operational
;,I::i The Group has a range of processss In place lo acourately identify, control and mitigate risks across all areas of the
ness.

The Group's most impertant assets ara Its taam members, ofients and (T infrastructure,

- As n paople lad organisation Xsinedin supporis its team members by developing, training and understanding them,
During the current yeer the business hae faunched the "Evolve” programma a professional development training
prograrnme for all client facing teams.

- The nesds of the Group's dients are continually reviewed to ensure that the Group mests its objective of providing an
Industry leeding business adviscry service,

- Xelnadin recognises the Imporiance of safeguarding data, and we are continuously assessing our GDPR and sacurity
policies and proceduras to ansure compllance,

- The Graup recognizses the importance of iis IT Infrastructure both intermnally and clieat tacing and Is building a readmap
fo become Industry leading through fis Investment in this area.

- Cument sconomic conditions are being monitored closely but s Xeinadin is not reflent on any major cliens or sectors,
the Group hes been extremely resliient to the impact of Covid 19.
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Mansagement monitore othar risks and uncertainties within the business, These include compelition, and changes In
reguiation. Contrals axist to ansure Information ia mede avaliable to ehable management to monitor the performance of
the Group. The controle address the performance of the Group based on monthly management accounts and key KPis
which Include detalls of fee income and overhoex! costs. The business regularily monitors new business wine, cllent
atirition and relles on monthly management accounts together with an annual budget and quartsrly forecasting systam 10
{dentify any tracing downtum in tima to carry out the necessary mitigating actions,

OTHER RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Currency risk

The Graup Is not exposed to material currency riek as fims In the Republic of Irdland matoh both cash imflows and outlows
{n euras. Thare i leas than 1% of the Group's income hase which is not denominated in either eterling or euro cumency,
driving any currency volalifty. Any foreign exchange impact reported In ihe finanuisl statements le primarily due to
transleting the consolidated results of the Group Into eterling at the balance sheet dats.

Liquidity rsk

The Group generatea sufficlent working capital io meats ite requirements both in terms of organic and acquleition growth,
The Group has minimal borrowings and cashflows are forecasied out over a minimum of threa yeare ensuring sufficlent
tunding to meet its strategic goals.

Cradit risk

All customers who wish 1o trade on credht terms are subject io credit verification procadures. Trade receivables are
raviewed on a regular basis and where reguired; an Impaiment expected credit loss is provided, These assessments
during the Covid 18 pedod have been compiated using our best knowledge of the impact to ihe worst hit Industries and
our clients within those seciors,

Going conoern

The Group's continued reasponse to the Covid 19 pandemic has been to protect the health and safety of its staff and partners
through ongolng home working and llaising closely with cllents to minimise overall business disruption. The business
continues fo monitor initlatives put in place in this regard, keeping people connacted by continuing to offer additional online
support for fte staff and flexible working armangements. -

The Group continues to operate a low-risk businesa model with no significant business or customer concentration and
continues io be succassfully adaptable o home working. The Group continiies to operate the Govemment support
gchemes in both the UK and lreland, including the use of furlough, VAT and PAYE deferral amangements, the terms of
which have baen complled with, see note 4 for detalls of Government grants recelved.

Tha Pandamic has continued to have a modaest Impact In tha Groyp's performenoa over the past 12 monihs which can be
summarised as followa:

1. Adversely impaciing the liquidity of some member firms with payments slowing down across thelr respactive cllent
base,

2. A small number of firma continue to be axposed to sectors impacted by the longer-term effects of the pandemio, e.g.,
travel and hospitality.

The aggregate Impact of the above was ¢ 3% - 5% of Group fumover and an Incraass in working capitel of up to £2m. The
Group is not materally rellant on bank funding, given the strong cash generation of s member firms.

The Diractors havae prepared base case finanolal forecasts for the periad April 2021 to November 2022 and these provide
a good level of comfort In the asseasment of Yquidity for the Group. The uncertainty due to the impact of the Covid19
pandemic has continued 1o be considered and monitored clogely in these forecasts as past of the Group's adoption of the
golng concern basis (further detall on stress-testing performed over the Group's futurs cash flows is given on page 24),

Brexit
The Group Is not directly impacted by the changes arising from the UK leaving the European Union (Brexit’} and the
Group's diverse ciiant-base and seciors shields i from any indirect impact.

Future devalopments

The Group will continue to advance iis strateglc pian io bacome a leading advisory firm to the SME sector underpinned by
a strong technology platform. The Group intends to seek acquisitions thal will contribute Yo our sirategic goal to grow the
Group substantially over he future years, Tho Group will aleo grow organically via its impiemented hub structure.
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Xeinadin is a newly formed Group, and whilst reporting &t a Group level for the financial year, has taken the option: {0
exciude from the report, any energy and carbon information relating to its subskilaries where the subsidlaries would nol
themselves be obliged to Include 1 reporting on thelr own account. Xeinadin qualifies as a Consoldated Group, but no
subsldiaries need to be Included as they fail under the reporting threshokds.

Whilst thers {8 currently no process in place al present to monitor the Group’s greanhouse gas emissions, the business s
intending to put in measures over the pext 12 months o track its emisstons In line with the guldelines set up under the
2018 Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting regulations (SECR). The Dirsctors ara committed In connecilon with the
overall Group sirategy on chmate change and have put several meesures in place oullined below o reduce #ts Carbon
footprind over the coming financial years and to track this performance ko evidence such plans.

Whilst no quaniilative data is required for the publication of its financial atataments under the Companies (Director's report)
and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon report) Regulation 2018, in terms of CO2 tonnes generated and its
intensity calctiations, the following messures have baen deployed to support the Group's overall Chmate Change
Initiatives. The businesa concurs that CO2 smissions In connaction with its energy usage and business travel exist, which
need 1o ba managed and monttored accurately in the future,

The Group is (n the proceas of signing Lp to the Science Based Target Infistive (SBTI) which I8 an internationally
recognizad programme designed to manitor and improva carbon foolprint targeis. Joining thia program, which recognises
the jevel of cimate action neaded globally fo align to the Parls agreement and translates thess into specific busineas
fargets, shows the Group's commitment to the world problems around climete change as well as setting a leadership
example and puiding its dients acoordingly on how they can adopt a greener approach to the way they operate in the
future. This Wil further Improve the Group's reputetion, drive innovetion, antickate lagisietive changes, and ultimatsly
reduce future business costs.

Xainadin Is aware of the threat of technolagioal advancement and is currently developing forward thinking finance toois
(product ife cycle assessments, a sustainability |deas database and prediclive tax and grent advice)} to support and protect
its current customer basa (n a changing environmant. The business is looking to recycle its future IT equipment through a
mars circulsr supply chain as opposed 1o a Inear approach and run change management courses to continually educatse
and relnforce its sustainabliity plans to Its staff es well as its current and prospactive cllents.

Xeinadin Is focusad on the need to demonstrate its awareness of olimate change to potential investors, by showing
commitment fo reduca Its carbon footprint, More and more investors are backing environmentslly caneclous businesses
and Xeinadin g targeling an annual reduction fn Iis carbon footprint, Including looking at invesiments which support iis
fulure sustainabliity strategy. This strategy extends beyond Investment and focuses also on engaging with national
Suppliers with vested interests In sustslnablity (carbon reduction Inttiative), alignad to the 1SQ 14001 accreditation and
there's a clear intention to condense it supply chain around those likemindsd suppliers. The business Is planning to gain
the ISO 14001 accreditation dusing the coming financial year.

The business offers its cllents tax and grant advice {informing on the tax implications of envirenmental changos) as welt
as sharing Its susizinabllity ideas with clients. By creating a proactive risk assessment tool for its cllents, this will further
raise awarsness and connect to Hs clent base to further add ‘o the Group's intentions arcund sustainability.

The Group, as part of its continual improvemaent initlatives, is training both its team {creating Sustainabillty Consultants)
and cllent bass and Is looking for sponsors to promote Its mission around its carbon footprint ohjectives. Thess sponsors
will champion the programme on behalf of the Group and focus on team awarenass as well as change management
strategies, including changes t© 1ts membars’ business modeis and operational proossses.

The Group Is aware of the sffect of cimate change on ks finencial performance. Tha directors accept other risks and
opportunities under the TCFD guidance need to ba considersd, The directors remain focused on reducing the Oroup's
carbon foofprint through the saverel key inktiatives set out above and will further support thia by tracking its CO2 emissions
over tha coming financial years with improved reporting as part of both the SBTI and encouraging more environmentafy
friandly straiegies. The directors will be satting up the procegses and raporting required In order to creste potential business
oppottunities with a low carbon strategy responding to cimate change. Both clent and future Investor perception 18 critical,

s part of the Group's strategy of reducing s future greenhouse pas ermissions, driving both tha business future proftabdity
and fuiure valuation.
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
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SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

Sectlon 172 of the Companles Act 2006 requires a Diractor of a company 10 act in a way he or she oonsiders in good faith
would most likely provide the sucoess of the company for the benefit of s memnbers as a whole and in doing 0, have
regards {(amonget other matiens) to the following key areas of joous:

a) The lkely consequences of any decisions In the long ferm

b)  The Interests of s employees

¢}  The need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers, and other key stekeholdars
d)  Thempact of the scompany’s aperation on both the community snd the environment

@)  The cesirabllity of the company meintalning a reputation for high standards of business oondudt and

) The need to act fairly betwean all members of the cormpany

in adherence to their duty under 8172, the Directors have conskiered the sbove faciors and consider the interests of alt
relgvant stakeholders when making decisions on behalf of the Group. This has been set out below under the following
subhaadings:

The likaly consequences of any declsions In the long term

The Xainadin Group Lid is a group of 102 accountancy firms and its principal activity ls to service those companiss in the
group, who In trn ofier a range of tallored advisory sarvices o thelr diverse client base. The Group considers ihe success
of the business i not Just down {o iis financlal performanca, but the social and snvironmental Impact of Hs operation Is
aqually important. As a UK and Ireland professional services business, the Group aims 1o

caniinuously develop the workplace for its employees through long term sucocession planning, ensuring talent retention
and knowladge davelopment by bringing up the next wave of pivotal staff.

provide sustainable growth through responsible and innovative business practices through development of interactive
systemns and training. The businees offers iis clients 1ax and grant advice around susiainability, creating a proactive risk
apsessment ool for its cllents, raiging awareness and connecting to its dient base, to further add o client awareness on
various environmental, commeroial and social matters. The business ls. continuously looking for more forward-thinking
solutions as well 88 developing its Bl systema at a Group level to provide more informed, responsive solutions for s
clients.

poslively engage with all communities in which the Group operates through a range of both charitable and fund-raising
activities.

There are Group policies and procadure In place to ensure the buslness succaeds in meeting ke key performance indicators
and itintegrates responalble businees practios through its clear management struciure,

The Intsrests of lts employees

The Group places considerable vaiue on the purticlpstion and involvement of all tts directors and employees and has
various channels of communication for engagement. The successlion planning intemally ks being used to bulld up the next
layer for bringing in afler the retirement of key Directore. The businees is roding out the Evolve programme to keep thelr
sta#f abreast of the latest knowiedge and empower their skillset o provide leading advice 1o their clients,

Employees continue o be at the heart of the business, all of whom play a pivotal part in the business continulng effarts to
ba af the forefront of the profossional services industry, through offering leading induetry sorvice and expertise. During the
year, regular mealings are held beiwssn managament and its employees to communicate the financial parformancs and
business sirategy. Employeas are ragularly consulted to obtain thelr views on ali matiers affecting them and by dolng so
are awars of the financial, soclal and economic factors affeating the parformance of the company.

The noad to foster the compiny's businass relationships with customers, auppliers and other key stakehciders
The Group has prooesses and procaduras in place to snswre that its suppliers are paid promplly and within agreed payment

tamna, .
Strong client relations are achleved through recaiving ragular chient feadback and the Group's angoing commitment to
delivering excellent customer service through a dear, solutions orientaied approach.

Ongoing engagement and implemantation of all regulaloty requiremants halp the Group develop and meintain open and
{ransparent relationships with all its regulators. Regular assurance reviews are carried out by the relsvant professional
institutes as part of ensuring the compeny's faimass and professional sonduct in managing all client complaints and that
these are dealt with on a timely basis,
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The impact of the company’s oparation on both the community and the environment

The Group is committed 0 promoling the conservation of naturel resources, prevanting environmental polution, and is
continually Improving its performance through is ongoing sustainabliity programme (See carbon emiselons disdcsura).
The Group regarde environmental regutations, laws and codes of practioe as the minimum standard thet It shoukd aim for
and works fowards exceading these benchmarks.

The Group supports its corporate responsiliity through all its subsidiary firms and actively encourages both directors and
its staff o participate In iis responsibliy code.

The destrabliity of tha company to muintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct

The Group Is purpoEs led, helping its chients, is people, and its communities to all thrive. Tha Group strategy is bullt around
a sst of cors values embedded into its operalions and culture, which in tum Quides the balanced decisions made by the
diractors of the Group. The Group's compitance with regulations (Including varlous accountarvy bodles), further supporis
the adhsrence to the highest standards of canduct end ethics.

The appointment of an experienced board, balenced with three non-execiiive directors 1o overses the development of the
fulure strategy and enaure growth is pursusd In a susiaineble and responsible manner, further supporte the Group's
complianoe 1o the highest code of bahaviours.

The sighing by subsidiary firms to the Consoldation and Membership agreements, defines the behaviours and ections that
the subsidiary firms must kve by.

The nesd to act falily between members of the company

The company ia owned by the Xelnadin Group of which its directors are members. The Management structure, with control
st & Group level, ensures the interssts of all Group entities are very dosely aligned, with subeidiary firms required 1o abide
by the terma of intemat Consolidation and Membership agresments, to ensure standards are being upheld and behaviours
aro in alignment with the Xeinadin practice.

As & result, the transactions batween the company and other member firms of the Group are carried out at both an arm's
jength and on a commercial basis. There is a Group-wikie growth mentafity thet supports the referral processes being used
openly and honestly, to ensure that work Is baing properly passed over ta the requisite mamber firms whao are best placed
to deal with it.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Date: ... 8. Novembesr 2024
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

The direciors present their report with the financial siatemenia of the company and the Group for tha year endad
3 May 2021.

DIVIDENDS
The diractors do not recommand payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 May 2021 (2020: none).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Tha datalis of |ikely future developments in the Group's business are disclosed on page 4 of the Sirategic Repott.

GOING CONCERN
The fnancial slaterments are prepared on a going concern hasls. The reasons for adopting this besis are discosed on
page 4 of the Strategic Report.

EVENTS S8INCE THE END OF THE YEAR

Since the etatement of financial position deta, the Group has continued to succeesfully navigate the business through the
Covid-19 pandemic and related lockdowns. The Group Is in advancad negotiationa with 8 number of acoountancy practices
{o aoquire those practices as part of the Xeinadin Group. The Xeinadin Group expects io fund the acquisiton of these
aniities by an equity fransaction.

Tax rates with effect from 1 Aprk 2023 are expacisd to rse to 25% In accordance with the fact that the Finance Bil has
raceived roval agsent. Given the substantive anactment of this tax rate on 24 May 2021, the defarred tax balance (see
note 23) has been re-measured by £3.1m to factor in the impact of the higher rate.

In Qotobar 2024, the Group successhully agreed the purchase of 100% of the ehare cap'tal of a target company 1o join the
Xelnadin Group, on the basis of total cash consideration payable of £2m. £1m will be payable by end of March 2022 and
two further instalments of £0.5m will be payable on the first and second anniversanaes of tha inifial paymant dete. Given
the proximity of this event to the date of signing these financlal siatements, management have not yat conducied a
purchase prics allocation exercies on the scquieition. -

Further poleniial acquisitions have been targeted and are at varying stages, including 3 entities that have agreed Heads
of Terms with the Group.

DIRECTORS
Tha directors shown below have haid office during the whole of the period from 1 Juna 2020 o the date of this report.

JDLea

A C Crawford
D

J Wall
Mrs P Benolt
irs S M Clarke

Other changes in directors holding office ere as follows:

N D Bannett - rasigned 31 March 2021
J L V Berassl - resigned 8 February 2021
A § Marsh - appointed 24 March 2021
M K Kingston - appointed 24 March 2021

M H Burgees, R G W Willlama and S O Nice weare appointed as directors after 31 May 2021 but prior to the date of this
report.

P C Matthows, R J Stebbingas and M K Kingsion ceased o ba directors after 31 May 2021 but pror © the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS INDEMNITIES
The directors are coverad by appropriate director's liability insurance maintained by Xelnadin Group Limited, the uitimate
parent company and are also indemnifiad in the company’s Articies of Assoclation.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The Broup'i activities axpose it to several financial risks, including prica risk, credil dsk, liquidity riek, cash flow risk and
currency risk.
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Price risk

The direclors and management work hard to grow and deveiop the Group and malntain strong reiationshipe with both the
Group's partners and customers. However, the Group faces industry wide riske in the form of both competition and
legisiation. The Group Is still competing against smalier accountancy firms a0 must ensure its pricing Is appropriate to such
merkets. Offering & local service with emphasls on client satisfaction mitigates some of the risk. The directors continue o
manage stch risks through regular reviews at monthly board meetings.

Cradit risk

The Group's financial assets are cash, trade and othar racetvabies, contract assets and invasiments, The Group’s credit
rink ls primarity atiributeble to iis tade recelvables. The amounts presenied In the consolidated statement of financlal
position are net of provisions for doubtful receivebles. An eallowance Is made for expected credii losses based on a
oombination of past lossas taken over & window of data of two years, split by Industryfsettor of the ollemt base serviced by
sach Xelnadin Group firm. The allowance then incudes a specific uplift provision for the forward-looking element of the
industry/sector and the risk o collaction thet this faces in the wake of macroeconomic events, which Is a judgementat
decision by each Xelnadin Group firm depanding on its exposure to those sectors.

Liquidity risk

in order to maintain liquidty to ensure that sufficient funds are avalleble for ongolng operations and future developmenits,
the Group uees & mixture of cash held and minimal debt financing. Further detslls regarding liguidity risk can ba found on
page 4 of the Stratoglo Report.

Cash flow risk

Cash fow risk Is primarily mitigated by a central collection process and statistics monitored by the Group finance tesm
whioh prevents debts fram becoming significantly aged. Regular updates with the member firms ensures the required
foedback and sny relevant actions io take, to snsure the Group mifigates any significant debts from becoming
uncollectable.

Currency risk

The Group is not exposad to material currency risk as the ROI firms maich both ¢ash inflows and outfiows in suros.  There
is loss than 1% of the Group's Income base which is not denominated in either siering or auro currsncy, uitimately driving
any ctrrency volatiity,

Streamiined Ensrgy and Carbon Reperting (SECR)

The Group is aware of the effect of cimate change on its financial parformance. The directors accept other risks and
opportunities nead to be considerad as part of shcouraging more environimental strategies. In terma of regulated reporiing
the parent company, Xelnadin Group Limited acknowledges it generates less than the specifiad 40,000 kwh of oulputs,
Further details regarding gresnhouse pas emissions can be found on page 5 of the Strategic Report.

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT

The Xeinadin Group operates an equal opportunities policy thet alms to ensure all employees are treated faily across the
Group. The Group places considerable vaiue on the participative Involvement of s directors end employess and has
various channals of communication and angagement, During the yesr, reguler meetings ane held betwaen management
and its employses to communicete the perforrance of the Group and business strategy, Employees are reguleriy
consuited on matters sffecting them and by doing so are aware of the financial, sodlel and economic factors affecting the
porformance of the Group.

The Group gives full and fair consideration to the epplication for emplayment from disebled persons where the requirement
of the job may be adequately coverad by a disabled person. With regards to existing employees who become disabled,
the Group has cohtinued to explore ways of providing continuing employment under romal terms and conditions.
Disabled persons are offered the same opportunities regarding training, career progression and promotion.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILMES

The directors are responsible for preparing the Stratepic Raport, the Report of the Directors end the financlel statements
In accordance with epplicable jaw and regulstions.

Company iaw requires the directors {o prepare financial statements for each finencial year. The directors have elected to
prepare the financial statements In accordance with international Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Compantes Act 2006. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satiefisd that they give a true and falr view of the state of affalrs of the company and the Group and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that period. In prepering these financial statements, the directors ara required to:
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

- seleci sultable accounting policies and then apply them conslstently;

- make judgements and accounting eetimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- wstate whether they have besn prepared In acoordance with international Accounting Standards In conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and

- prepars the financlal statements on the golng concam basls unless it s inappropriate to presume thed the compeny
will continue in buainess.

The direciors are rasponsible for keeping adequate acoouniing recorda that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's and the Group's transactions and disclose with reasonable acouracy at any ime the financlal posltion of the
company and the Group and enable them {0 ensure that the financial statemenis comply with the Companies Act 2006,
They are aleo responsible for safeguarding the assels of the company and the Group and hanoe for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detaction of iraud and other irregularities.

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
Each of the persons who are Directors at the {ima when the Directors repert ia approved has confirmed that:

- 8o far as the director Is aware, there is no relevant audi Indormation of which the Group suditors are unaware and,
- the direcfors have taken all the steps thed ought to have boen taken as a dineolor In order to be aware of any relavant
audi infarmation, snd fo establish thai the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

AUDITORS
The auditors, BDO LLP, will ba proposead for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

ate: G [Noveember 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

Opinion on the financial siatements
In our opinion;

+  the financial atatements pive a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at
31 May 2021 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

* the Group financial statements have been properly prepared In accordance with International acoounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008;

+ the Parent Company financial staternents have been properly prepared In accordance with international acoounting
standards In conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008 and aa applied In accordance with ihe
proviskons of the Companiee Act 2006: and

» the financial statements have baen prepaned in sccordance with the requirements of the Compenies Act 2008,

Wea have audited the financial stetaments of Xeinadin Group Limiled (the ‘Parsnt Company’) and its subsidiarios (the
‘Group’) for the year ended 31 May 2021 which comprise the coneolidated statomant of profit or Ioas, the consolideted
statement of profit or loss am! other comprehansive income, the consolidated and company statements of financial
posiion, the consolidated end company statement of changes in equlty, the consolidated and company statement of
cashffows, and notes 10 the financial statemants, Including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been appliad in thelr preparation Is applicable law and internationat accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Compenies Aot 2006 and, as regarde the Parent Company financial statements,
as spplled In accardance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006,

Basls for opinion

We conducted our audH in acoordance with Internationsl Standards on Auditing (UK) (18As {UK)) and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under those siandarde are further describad In the Auditor's responsibiities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We belleve that the audit evidence we have obisined |5 sufficlent and appropriate to
provide a basls for our opinion.

Independence

We are indapendent of the Group and the Parent Company In accordance with the sthical requirements that zre relavant
to our audit of tha financial statements In the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fuifilied our other
sthical responsibiities In accordanos with these requirements,

Conclusions relating to going concermn
In auditing the Mnanclel statements, we have conclisdad that the Directors’ use of the going concem basis of acoounting in
the praparetion of the financlal ststements ls appropriste,

Based oh the work wa have perfotmad, we heve not identified any materiel unceriaint/es reiating to events or conditions
that, indMdually or collectivaly, may oast significant doubt on the Group's and Parent Compary's abifity to continus as a
going concarn for a pericd of at jaast twelve months from when the finandal statements are authorieed for fesue,

Cur respanglbifties and the responsibilities of the Diraclors with respect 1o going concem are dasoribed In the relevant
secotione of this report.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information Included In the
strategic report, report of the Directora other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereoh. Gur opinion on
the financlal statements doss not caver the other information and, excepl to the extent otherwise explidtly stated in our
report, wo do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our raspansibifty is to read the other information
and, In doing B0, conskder whather the other Information le matedally inconsistent with the finandial slatements or our
knowiedge obtained tn the coursa of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materialy misstated. if we identify such material
inconaistencies or spparert material misstatements, we are required fo determine whether this gives rise o a materlal
misstatement In the financial statements thermselves, ¥, based on the work we have performed, we oonclude thet there s
a material misstatement of this other information, we are reguired 1o report that fact.

We have nothing to report In this regard,

Other Companiss Act 200€ reporting
In our epinion, basad on the work underiaken in the course of the audt:

+  the information given In the Strategic report and the report of the Directors for the financial yeer for which the finencial
statements are preparad Is consistent with the finandial statements; and

. tmmrepoﬂmdthempoddthammmhmbeenprq:aradlnacoordamwﬂhappﬁoablelagal
requ \e.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and s environment obtained in the
couree of the audit, we have not identfled material miastatements in the atrategic rapart and tha report of the Dirsctors,

Wa have nathing to repart In respeat of the following mattars In relstion to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report {0 you IF, in our opinlon:

« sdequats acsounting records have not bean kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been raceivad from branches not visited by us; or

+ the Parant Company financlal stataments are nol in agreement with the accounting records and retums; or

« cartain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specifiad by law are not made; or

+ wo have not recelved all the Information and explanations wa require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explainad more fully in the Directors’ reaponsibilities staterent, the Directore are responsible for the proparation of the
financlal statements and for baing astisfled that they give a true and falr visw, and for suoh internal control s the Directors
datanmf:e is necessary to enable the preparation of financlal stetaments that are free from material missiatement, whether
due to fraud or exTor.

in preparing the financlal statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's end the Parent Compeny's
shility to continue &g @ going ooncern, disclosing, as applicable, mattere relsted 10 going conoem and ueing the going
concem besls of accounting unlese the Directors either intend to Wjudate the Group ar the Parent Company or 0 cease
operations, or have no realistic altemnative but to do s0.

Auditor's responsibliities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives aré {0 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlel statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or emor, and to Issus an auditor's report that includes cur opinion. Ressonable
assurance Is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantoe that an audit conducted in accondance with ISAs (UK) will
alwaya detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstaternents cen arise from fraud or error and are oonsidered
matarial if, Indivigually or in the aggregata, they could reasonably be axpeciad to influsnce the economic decisions of users
taken on tha basis of these financial statemants.

Exient o which the awdit was capable of detecting ireguisrities, including fraud

Irreguiaritias, inoluding fraud, are instances of non-compilance with laws and regulations. We design proosdures In line
with gur responslblities, outlined above, to detact material missiatements in respect of imagularities, Including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting iregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

*  We conductad detailed testing of journals across tha top 19 entitles within the Group, focussing on audht of jurnale
with parameters outside of normal expectations from revenua postings and transactions. with minority owners of the
Group;

*  We tesied consolidafion adjustments posted © ensure that theee were reasonable and expected, snd whara thess
axceaded a cortain threahold, were corroborated to supporting tooumentation providad by Mansgement;

*  Wa performed testing on specific cash payments in the yesr to ldentify any fraudident extraction of funds from the
audited componerits of the business;

* The audit leam considerad Management's judgments, utilising data avaiable to support and challenga judgments made
respactively, and obneldering whether any overall bise existed within acoounting Judgments and estimates made by
Management In preparing the Group's financial statements;

= The audit team obtained a register of all potental negligence dleims (or otherwise) against the Group besed on current
cireumstances and challenged a number of thess 1o obtain 8 view on their likely outcome o the Group, In addiion to
establishing whethar theae ware Indicative of fraud In relation 1o the Group's compliance framework with regulatory

. bodies and oiherwise;

+ The audit team's approach to revenue involved specific focus on challenging assessments and assumptions made
around accounting for accrued income balances &t the year-end by challenging to time sheets and evidence of
mitestone completions, in addition to testing of cut-off around year-end to Identiy any matedal issues with revenue
recognition around the year-end which is considered to be most open to Managament judgment;

*  We conducted testing of employea costs 0 testing of existenca of those empioyees to snsure valkdity of costs Incurred
in relation to amployee wages and salaries;

«  Wa performed testing around iransactions with Directors and pravious Practice Companies 1o ensure thal no material
fraud was occurring in respect of ransactions being undertaken direcily with Directors; and.

+ In the case of our work on each of the Individual subsidiariee, enguires were made with the nominaiad Man
conact in each case to consider whether there had been any metarial breaches of compliance or regulations In respect
of regulatory bodles applicable to the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

Our audit procedures were designed to respond 1o risks of meterial misstaternent In the financial statements, recognising
that the risk of not deleciing a meteral misstetement due to fraud ie higher than the riek of not detecting one resufting from
onor, as fraud may Involve deiberate conceaiment by, for example, forpary, misrepresentations or through cotluelon. There
are Inherent mitatione in the awdit procedures performed and the further removed non-complance with laws and
mulaﬂons is from the events and lransactione refiected in the financial statements, the lees likely we are ic become aware

A further desoription of our responsibifties is evellable on the Financial Reporiing Counci's website at
www, fro.org. ul/auditorsresponsibiities.  This description forms part of our audifor's report.

Use of our report

This report Is made solely to the Parent Company's mambers, a8 a body, in accordance with Chaptar 3 of Part 18 of the
Companies Act 2008. Our audit work has besn undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company's mambers
those matiers wa are required to state to them In an auditor's report end for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not acoept or assume responsibillty to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent
Companry's members aa a body, for our audlt work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formead.

Dacutiignad by:

E\ndrew Radford
A4ZBECDCIOTOBE ...

Andrew Radford {Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor

.

BDOQ LLP Is a limited Habllity partnership registerad in England and Wales (with registered number OC306127).

18 November 2021
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Notes

{LOSSYPROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE {LOSS)INCOME
Ham that wil or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange {loss)/gain on consolidation

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE {LOSS)INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAXATION

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehenstve {loss)income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controliing Intereste

Eamings per share expressed in pounds per share: 12

Basiy

" DHuted

The notes form part of these financial statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 11354408}

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Qoodwill

Other Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assels

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other recaivables
Contract assots

Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and othar payables
Contract Habililes

Lease liablltles

Loans and bomowings
Tax payable

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Leass fiabllities

Loans and borrowings
Deferrad tax

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

18-

10

21
20

21
20
23

The notes form part of these finandlal statements

31 MAY 2021
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED {REGISTERED NUMBER: 11354408)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - continued

31 MAY 2029

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Called up share capitel 24 -
Share pramium 25 113,113
Reverse acquisition resarve 26 (15)
Retained samings 25 3,659
Total equity 116,757
Neon-controlling nierests 153,794
TOTAL EQUITY 270,501

13,13
(15)

5174

118,872
170,409

228281

The financiel, siatements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue
on ..l.g....?\!%«m..#&kmdmﬂgnedonls

behaif by:

The notes form part of these financlal statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 11354408)
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 MAY 2021
2021 2020
Notas £'000 £000
ABSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Proparty, plant and equipment 16 3 2
investmeanis 16 113,113 113113
113,143 113,118
CURRENT ASBETS
Trade and other recelvables 17 806 279
Contract asseis - 338
Cash and cash equivalents 18 278 247
1,085 8684
TOTAL ASSETS 114,228 113,979
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trede and other payables 19 1,124 807
Loans and borrowings 20 - 49
Tax payable 1 1
1,425 B&T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ——
Deferred tax 23 5 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,130 857
NET ASSETS 113,098 113,122
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Galled up shara capital 24 - -
Share premium 25 113,113 113,113
Relained eamings 26 {18) 8
TOTAL EQUHTY 113,008 11 31122

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companbas Act 2008, the Income sistement of the parent company |s nol presented as
part of these finanolal statements. The parent company's loss for the financial year was £(23,188) (2020 - £6,441 profit).

The financigl sl £ were approved by the Board of Directors and aulhotised for  (ssue
on .. K..N3VEAPRL 2610 and wera signad on its behalf by:

The notes form part of these finarxdial statements
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Baiznce at 1 June 2018
Changaes in equity

Total compreheneive income
Business combinations
Balance at 31 May 2020
Changes in equlty

Total comprehensive ices

Balance at 31 May 2021

XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

Callgd up
share Retainad Share Total
capital eamings premium equity
£000 £'000 £000 £000
- 3 - 3
- 6 - 6
- - 113,113 113,113
- ) 113,113 113,122
: 24 . {24)
- {15} 113,113 _ 113,008

The notes form part of these finandal staternents
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

2921
£'000

Cash flows from oparating activities
Profit before texation 3,050
Depraciation and amortisation charges 42,007
{ProfitMoss on disposal of fixed assets N
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 18,267
Finance costs 350
Finahce incoma —19

31,848
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other recelvables (1,721)
Incresse In contract essels {1,086
{Decreass)increase In trade and other payables {1,374)
Inorease in contract kabilities LT

27,984
Interest paki {18)
Lease intevest pald {332)
Tax pald 8
Net cash generated from operating activities 21,280
Cash flows from investing sotivities
Purchass of trede and assets from buelness combinations 592)
Purchase of tangible fixed asgets 566)
Purchess of fixad asset investments -
Sale of tanglble fixed sssats 34
Sele of fixed asset Investments -
Net cash disposed of on logs of control of subsidiaries {707}
Interest rocelvad 9
Net cash expanded in investing activities {1,822
Cash fiows from financing activiies
New |oans In year 440
{ can repayments in year {482)
Lease liability repayments in year {1,756}
Amount withdrawn by directors -
Dividents to non-oontrolling Interests 15,068
Net cash axpended In financing activities {16,866}
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,592
Cash and cash aquivalents at beginning
of year 16,143
Effect of foreign exchange rate changee (468)
Cesh and cash squivalents at end of year 18,267

The notes form part of these financial statements
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-38,802
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803
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

‘COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

2021 2020
£'000 £1000

Cash flows from operating activities
{Loas)/profit before taxation (18) B
Dividend income {3,056) -

{3.074) 8
(Increase)¥dacrease In trade and other recsivables (s28) 334
Decreasef(increase} In contract essets 138 {238)
Increase in trade and othar payables 318 531
Decrease in contract flablites - {423)
Tax paid - {2)
Net caeh (expendad injfrom operating aciivities (2,848) 110
Cash flows from Investing activitles
Purchase of tanglble fixed anssats {28) (2
Dividends recelved -
Net cash from investing aciivties 3,027 2
Cash flows from financing activities
Loan repaymenis In year 49) (2)
Nat cesh from financlng acivities {49) (2)
Incraasa In cash and cash aquivalents a2 108
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 247 141
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 279 247

The notes form part of theas financia! statements
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

STATUTORY INFORMATION

Xelnadin Group Limited s a private company, limited by shares, registered in England and Wales, The company's
registered number and registered office address can bg found on the General Infonmation page.

Sections 479A and 479C subsidiary companies audit exemption: parent undertaking declaration of
guarantee

Xeinadin Group Limited, tha parent company, has undertaken to guarantee all cutstanding Habllities to which its
UK subsidiaries are subject to at the end of the financial year, ending on 31 May 2021, This guarantes applies until
a) they are satisfled in full, b) the guarantee Is enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom
the subsidiary is liable in respect of those llabilities and c) relates only to the year under guarantee.

The exemption applies to all UK subsidiaries listed In note 16.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intamational Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention.

The results of the Group are expressed in £ Sterling, which is the Group's presentational currency since the majority
of services, income, costs and underlying staff are dictated by the economic environment of the United Kingdom.
The policy on foreign currency on page 27 discusses the method by which subsidiaries in differing functional
currencles are converted into the presentaticnal currency of £ steding for the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statemeants.

Basls of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its Subsidiaries {together referred to as 'the
Group). Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when It is exposed to, or
has rights 1o, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affact those returns through
fte power over the entity. In assessing control, the Group tekes into consideration potential voting righte thet are
currently exercisable. The acquigition date Is the date on which control Is transferred to the acquiror. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included In the consolidated financial stetements from the date that control
commences until the day that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are
allocated to the non-controlling interests even If doing so causas the non-controlling interests to have a deficil
balance. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
frangactions, are eliminated on consolidation.

Reverse acquisition:
IFRS 3 applies to a transaction that meets the definition of a business combination |.e. a transaction In which an
acquirer obtains control of one or more business,

On 1 June 2018, Xeinadin Group Limited (XGL) via its 100% owned subsidlarios became the legal acquiror of part
of the issued shara capital of 115 subsidiary companies based In Unitad Kingdom and Republic of iraland. The
share interests wers obtained by means of a share for shara exchange. XGL was newly formed for the purpose of
bringing the group together. IFRS 3 App B paragraph B18 states if & new entity is formed to issue equity Interests
to affect a business combination, one of the combining entities that existed pricr to the business combination shall
be identified as the acquiror by using the guidance In paragreph 813 to B17. These include;

- Relative voting rights of each combined entity

- Existence of a single large minority Interest

- Composition of the goveming body of the combined entity

- Senior management of the combined entity

- Relative size

- Terme of exchahge of the equity Interest

Based on the above factors, Crowley & McCarthy Accountancy Limited (CMC') has been Iidentified as the
accounting acquircr. This is known as a reverse acquisition whare XGL lssues the securities (legal acquiror) but is
identified as the acquiree for accounting purposes.

The combination of XGL and the other subsidiarias has been accounted for using the acquisition method.

Where a subsidiary Is sold or no longer under Group control, an elemant of the acquisition date goodwill, net of any
impairments, is included in determining the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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ACGOUNTING POLICIES ~ continued

Going concem

The accounts are prepared on a going concam besis as et the time of approving he finandial statements the
Directors having reassassed the principal risks and uncertainties have a reasonable expeciation thet the Group
and company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foresoeable future. in excess
of 80% of the Group revenues are recurring which undeming a sirong trading performance. The Group s cash
generalive and Is financed by & combination of cash ressrves and cash flow generated from trading. The costs of
the HQ function are billed to and pald by member firme. A key assumplion in determining Going Concern s thet
substantially all the 102 fioma ponsolidated within the forecast remain within the Group over the forecast petiod.
The exit window Is now closed to ail subaldianies within the Group.

in the petiod since the pandemic arose and the UK & lreland entered lockdown &t the end of March 2020, the
Group has seen a relatively minor reduction in Revenues but overall has continued 1o frade profitably and cash
genaration has remained strong. The Directors have considerad a basa case foracast to November 2022 which
excudes acquisition spend or changes In Capital Stnioture and Funding. The resilianoe of the Group to a range of
possible downslde soanarios was factored into the direotors’ considerations through stress testing tha Farecast
with reductions in Revenua of 10% and 20% respectively. The Group demonsirated that it could withstand both a
material ahd prolonged dacrasse In revanue and malntaln & poslive cashflow. The Group continued to pay
Dividends under both scanarios albelt at 8 reducad rate.  In both Scenarios thera was significant cash headroom
without taking any additional mitigating steps. Applying a reverse siress test which ilentifies the break point in the
Group's cash generation, Group revenues would need fo fall by 31%. In the context of current trading conditions
and year to date pefformance against budget post-year-end, the Directors consider this to be an uniikely
eventuality.

Accordingly, the Directors continue to adapt the golng concarn basls in preparing the strateglc report, directors
reporl and accounts.

Revenue recognition
Revenue s measured as the fair value of consideration received or receivable for satisfying

performance
obligations contained In contracts with cllents, Including expensss and disbursemeants but excluding discounts end
Value Added Tax,

Varable conslderation i Included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highty probable that a significant
reversal will not be required when the uncertainties determining the levet of varlable considaration are subsequently
resolved. Revenue is recegnisad whaen or as the Group salisfles parformanca obligations by transfering control of
services o cllents. This oceurs as follows for the Qroup's various contract types:

Time-and-materlals contracts ave recognised over time as servicos are provided at the fee rate agreed with the
cllent where there Is an enforceable right to payment for performance completad to date.

Fixad-fee coniracts are recogniesd over time based on the aciuail service provided to the end of the reporting pericd
as a proportion of the total services to ba provided whore there is an enforosable right to payment for perfformance
compleiad to date. Thia Is determined based on the actual inputs of timé and expensas relative to tolal expecled
inputs,

Confingent-fea contracts, over and above any agreed minimum fee, ara recognised at the point in time that the
contingent event ocours and the Group has become entitied 1o the revenuse

Where contracts Inciude multiple performance obligations, the fransaction price Is allocated 10 each performance
obligation based on its stand-alone selling price. Where these are not directly obeesvable, they are sstimated based
on expected cost plus margin. Adjustments are made o allbcate disoourits proportionately relstiva to the stand-
alona seliing price of each performance obligation.

Estimates of ravenues, costs or extent of progrees toward completion are revised if droumstances change, Any
resulting incresses or decreases in estimaled revenues or costs are reflocted In the statement of profit or loes In
the perled in which the drcumstances that give rise 1o the revision become khown.

For tin:and—mnteﬁds, fixed-faa and licancefon contracts, fees are usually billed on acoount based on a payment
schedule.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

For performance-fee and contingent-fee contracts, fees are usually bllled and paid when entitierent to the revenue
has been astablished. If the revenue recagnised by the @roup exceeds the amounts biled, a contract aeset is
recognised, i the amounts billed exceed the revenue recognised, a contract Habllity is recognisad. Contract assets
are reciassified as receivables when billed and the consideration has become unconditional bocause only the
passage of tme s required before payment is due.

The Group's standard payment terms require settlemant of invoices within 30 days of receipt.

The Group does not adiust the transaction piices for the time value of money a8 R does not expect to have any
contracts whers the period betwean the transfer of the promised services to the ciient and the payment by the clent
exceods orve yoar.

Other Income includes the recognition of governmant supported moome from e Coronavirus Job Ratentlon
Scheme. Income s recognised In the same perlod as the cormesponding employe® coste.

Goodwill

The acquisition method of accounting is used 1o account for busineas combinations. Goodwill arises on acquisitions
and businags combinations where the fair value of the consideration glven oxceeda the fakr value of the separately
Identifled assets and [kabilities tranaferred. Associated costs are written off as incurred. Goodwill is capitalised as
an intangible asset with an indafinita life, with any impairment In carrying value being charged to the consalidated
staiement of comprehensliva income.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on value In use (VL)) calouiations. The Group le
eatisfind that no further Impatrment provision was required against the cartying value of the Group's goodwill at the
current or previous finenclal year end. .

The use of the VIU method requires the estimetion of future cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in
ordar to calculate the present vaiue of the cash fiows, The fulure cash flows used In the VIU calouation are based
on financlal budgets approved by management, besed on prior year profi experience and epplied 1o the five-year
period to May 2028, followed by a terminal value with the May 2028 annual cash flows exirapoisted Into perpetulty
at a long term growth rats. We have assumed a long term growth rate of 2%. The discounted retes used in the ViU
calculation ara based on a post-tax estimaled weighted average oost of capital and seperate rates have been
selected for UK, 10.76% (2020: 11%) and ROI, 10.50% (2020: 12%).

Other intangible asnets

Clent Relationships

Clent Relaticnships acquired by the Group as parl of a business combination are steted at cost lass accumulated
amortisation and impsiment losses (see pravious note oh Soodwil for methiod of caleulating impairment losaes),
Cost roflects manaegement's Judgemeant of the fair value of the individual Intangible asset calculated by referance
to the net present value of future benefit accruing to the Group from the ytilisation of the asset discounted at the
appropriate discount rate,

Client relationships are amortised over 2 pariod of 7 to 10 years based on the director's estimate of usetyl Iife.

Brand Value / Trade Name

The finns acquired hava retained their trading nemse dus to the value of the brand In their specific markel place.
These are stated st cost less accumulated emortisation and impaimment logses. Cost for each acquiskion ks
calculated in a simiiar manner to clisnt reiationships and reflects management's judgement on the fair value of the
assets,

Brand Velus /Trade names are amorliesd over § to 10 years hased on the directors’ estimate of useful kfe.

Property, plant and squipment

Property, plent and equipment ‘s sterted at coet lees sccumuiated depreciation and accurmuatad impalment losses,
Depreciation Is provided at the following annual rates in order to wiite off each asset over s eatimated uselul itfe
or, I heid under a finance lease, over the leass term, whichever |s the shorter,

Right of use ansets - over the Me of tha lsase
Fixtures and fittings ~3to8 years
Computers =310 & yeare
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial iInstrumesnis

i) Financial essets

Financial assote that meet the criterfa required under IFRSE b be held at amortised cost (being held for coliection
and passing tha 1est of comprising solely paymants of principal and intereat) include trade and other racelvabies
and cash and bank balances. These are Initisly recognisad at transaction price.  Such assets are subsequently
cared at amortised cost using the effective interest mathod. Financial assels measured at amortised cost include
cash, trade debtors and other debtors. .

Impairment provisions for trada recslvables are assessed forimpainment based on the simplified approached within
IFRSB using the lifstime expected credit losses. Durlng this process the probablllly of the nan-payment of tha
trada recaiveble Is assessed. This probabiiity ls thon multipiied by the amount of the expected |oes arising from
defauit 1o determine the [fetime expected credit loss for the trade recelvables. For trade recalvables, which are
reported nel, such provisions are renorced in a separate provision account with the loes being recognised within
adminisirative expanses in tha consolidatad statement of comprehensive income.  On confinvation that the trade
recelvabie wil not be cotiected, the gross carmying vakie of tha aaset s writisn off egainst the sasoclated provision.
Detalls on oredit oss oaloulations are Included at note 17.

For other receivables, at the end of each reperiing perod financial asseis measured at amorfised coslare assessed
for impalrment based on the ganers! impalment model within IFRSS.  H an asset I8 Impaired the impairmant loss
is the difference betwesen the cartying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discourted at the
assat's original effactive Intarest rate.  Tha Impalment lose ls recognised In profit or loss.

If theve is a decreasae In the kmpairment loss arlsing from an event occurring after the Impairment was recogrised
the Impairment s reversed. The reversal is such thai the current carrving amount doee not exceed what the
carrylng amount would have been had the impalmment not previously bean recognised. The impairment reversal
ia racognised in profit or loss.

Financlal assets are derecogrisad when (a} the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are
settied, or (b) substantially all the risks and rewsrds of the ownaerehip of the asset are transferrad to another party
or (¢} cantro! of the asset has beap tranaferred 1o another party who has the practical ability to unliaterafly sell the
asset 10 an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.

i) Financial llabilities

Financial ksbiities are recogniaad al amortised cost as redquired under IFRSD include trade and other payables,
overdraft and bank and other loans, and ars Inttially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement
constituies a financing transaction, where the debt instrumant is meesured of the present value of the future
racsipis discounted at a market rate of Interast, Financhal liabllities measurnsd at amorilsad cost Include overdrafis,
trado pa)lfaa&les other payables and accruals. It does not Include other taxes and social security payable or
ocontract ities.

Trade payables are obligations to pay far goods or seivices that have been acquired in the ordinary cotrsa of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classliled as current Kabilifies if payment is dua within one year. If
nat, they are prasented as non-current lisbllities. Trade payables are racognised initialy al transaction price and
subsequantly measured at amontisad cost using the effeciive interest method,

Financial llablities are deracognised when the liability is extinguished, that Is when the contractual obiligation is
dischergad, cancelled or expires.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises cumant and defermed tax. Tax is recogniead in the statement of profit
or loss except to the axtent that i relates o items recognized directly In equity, in which case It s recognised in
otity.

Current tax Is the axpected tax payable or recaivable on the taxable income or loas for the year, using tex rates
and laws enacled or substantlvely enacted by the staiement of financial position date, and any adjustmant 1o tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tay is provided on temporary differences between the camying amoums of assets and kablitles for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for texetion purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided ig
based on the expecied manner of realisation or settiement of the carrying amount of assets and labiliiag, using
tax rafes and laws enactad or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.
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A deferred tax assst is reongnised only 1o the extant that It Is probable that future taxable profits will ba available
against which the temporary difference can be uldisad. The following temporary differencas are not provided for:
the Initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of asasts or liablities that affect neither accounting nor
{exiable profit other then in a business combination.

Foreign currencles

Transactions in foreign ocurrencies are iransiated into steding at the rete of exchanpe ruling &t the date of
iransaction. Exchange difarenoes are taken Info account In arriving &t the operating resuk. Transactions In
cumencies othar than the functional currency of aach operation am recorded at the ratea of exchange prevaling on
tha dates of the trahsactions. At the date of each statement of financlal position, monetary assets and Rabiities
that are denominatad in forelgn curencies ara refransiated at the rates prevalfing at the date of the statement of
financial position. Gains and losses antsing on retrenslation are included in the consotidated income statement for

the year.

On consolidation, the assets and Rablities of the Group's oveiseas operations are translated from thelr functional
currencies st exchange rates pravaiing at the date of the statement of finandlal position. Income end expense
ltema are transiated from thelr functional currencies at the average exchange ratos for the year, which are materially
conststant with the spot rates ohaerved in the year of those entifies. Exchange differences arfsing are recognised
directiy In equlty and tranafoerred 1o the Group's foreign currency transiation reserve via the other comprahensive
income statement.  If an overseas opertation ja disposed of the cumulative tranaiation differences are racognised
as reallsed income or an axpense n ihe year disposal occurs.

Goodwill and falr value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a forelgn entlty are trested as assets and liabllides
of the foreign entity and transiated st the dosing exchange rate.

Leages

The Group assesees whether a contract s a lease at the Inception of the conlract. The Group recognises a right of
use asset and a tease llablilty for all lesse arrangements except for short term ieases end leases of low value
assets. For short term and low value leases the Group recognises the expense on a streight line basis over the
torm of the lease.

Lease llgblities are messured si the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the Isase
term (excluding any adjusiments releted Lo any Irflation index) with the discount rate determined by referenca to
the rate inherant in the leeae uniess (as is typicatly the case) this is not readity determinable, In which case the
Group's incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the leasa Is used.

On initial reocognition, the carrying vaiue of the lsase flability also Includes:

- amounts axpected 10 be payeble under any residusl value guarantes;

- the exerciee price of any purchasa option granted in favour of the Group if it Ia reasonably certain 1o exercise
that option; and

- any penaltics payable for terminating the lease, If the termn of the lease hae besn estimated on the basls of the
temmination option belng exearoised.

Right of use assats are Inltislly measured at the amount of the lease Habllity, reduced for any lease Incantives
received, and Increased for:

- lease paymeants made ai or before commencement of the ieage;

- Initial direct costs incurred; and

~ and the amount of any provision recognieed where the Group Is contractually required to dismantla, remove,
restora the leesad asset.

Subsaquert fo initlal measurement lease liabilitles increase as a resull of interest charge al a constant rede on the
balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right of use assets are emoriised on a siraight
line bhagls over the remalning term of the lease. When the Group revisss lis estimele of the term of any lease
(bacause, for example, it re-as=essas the probebliity of & lease extenslon or termination oplion balng exercleed), it
adjyats the carrying amount of the lease Hability to reflect the reraining payments to be made over the revised
term, and reviews the diacount rate applied to ensure it is still appropriate and will adjusi If applicable. An
equivalent adjustment is made to camying value of the right to use asaet, with the revised carrying amount boing
amortised aver the remalning (revised) lsase term,
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES « continued

Emplayes benefit costs
The Group operates g number of defined contribution penslon schemes. Contributions payable to the Group's
penaion schemes are charged to the income stetament In tha parod to which they relate.

Government grants

Government grants received on capitai expenditure are generally deducted In arriving at the carrying amount of the
asset purchased. Grante for revenue expandiure are included in oiher operating income, which in the current year
relates to income recelved as a resutt of participation In the covonavirus job retention scheme, As such, the cost of
smployment relating to the Individuals paid under this scheme ars recognised gross of the grant income received,
Whete retention of a government grant le dependent on the Group eetisfying certaln oriteria, it is ioitially recognised
as deferrad ncome. When the criteria for retention have been satlsfied, the deterred Income balance is released
1o the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income or netted against the asset purchased.

Trada and othar racelvables

Trade and cther receivables whare paymeni la due within gne yesr ¢o not conetitute & financing transaction and
are recorded at the undiscovered amount expecied to be received, less atirbutable transaction costs. Any
subsaquent Impalrmant Is recogiisad as an expenss In tha statement of profit or loss.

If payment i due aftar more than ona year or If there Is any other Indioation of a financing transaction, trade and
other recelvables are recorded Inltially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. In this situation, falr valus is
equal 10 the amount expected {o be recelvad, discounted at a market-relaied Intoreet rate,

All trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, net of impairment.

impairment and write-offe

The Group aways recognises ifetime ECL (expected crecit osses) for trade recelvables and contract assets, which
are astimated using a provision matrix by refarenca to past default experience of the debtor and an analysls of the
debior's curvent financial position, adjusted for factors thal are specific ko the deblors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the currant as well as the foracast direclion of condifions at the reporting date, Including
the Ume value of money where appropriate.

The Group writes off a receivable when thers Is information indicating that the debtor is in severe difioulty and
there I8 no realistic prospect of recovery. Financlal assets written off are still subject to enforcemeant aciivities, Any
recoverias made are recognleed in the statemant of profit or loss.

A provision is recognised in the stetement of financlal position when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as e result of a past event, and i ia probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle tha ohilgetion. If the effect is meterial, provisions are determinad by discounting the axpected, riek adjusied,
future cash flows at a pre-tax Hsk-free rate.

Diapidations provisions relate to the sstimated cost to put leased premises back to the reguired condition expected
under the terms of the leass. Thess include provisions for required dilapidations along with provisions where
jeasehold improverments have been made that would require reinsiaterent back o the original status on exit.
Thesa ars unceartain in timing as leases may he tarminatad early or extanded. To the exient thal axits of premises
ane axpactad within 12 months of the end of the year thay ara ashown as current. ’

Professional Indemnity provisions relate to complainte agalnst the Group that arise in the ordinary course of
bushess. The amount provided ks based on management's beet estimate of the Ukely lisblity and Is recognised
under 1AS 37 grose of any Insurance recovery assats.

Critical accounting judgements and kay aources of estimation uncertainty
Esimates and judgemaents are continually evaluated and are based on historical sxperience and other faciors,
including expectations of future events thet are belleved 1o ba ressonable under the circumstances.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgment estimates and
assumptions aboul canrying values of assets and liablitias that ara not reedly apparent from other sources. The
estimates and undedying assumptions are based on historical exparience and other factors that are considered ko
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlylng assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to aocounting estimates
ara recognised in the parlad in which the astimate is revised if the revision affects the perlod, or in the periad of the.
revision and future pariods If the revision affecte both current and future periods.
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The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have significant effect on the emounts recognised in the financial
statements are described below:

a} Basia of Consolidation

The directors consider the share for share exchanga between Xelnadin Professionsl Services Ireland Ltd (XPSI)
and CMC Accountancy Limited (CMC) fo be 8 reverse acquisition and CMC has been treated as the acquiror.
Further detalls on the basls of consolidetion and how direciors devaloped the most appropriate accaunting pollcy
are outhined in the basle of consolidation within the accounting poiley nots 2 and In note 16 of dealing with the
business combination.

As regards subsidiary companies, an assessment of control under IFRS 10 was undertaken. [FRS 10 explaing that
an lnvestor controls an investes when it is exposed or has a right to variable returns from Ha involvement with the
Investea and hay abiiity o direot those retums through Ha powsr over the investee.

In the case of the UK subasidiaras, control Is assessed by Management as baing prevalent based on:

- A 51% sharsholding 'n the Investee by XUPSL of each entity;

- The ahility to achieve majority Board representation by XGL as majority shareholder;

- The abllity to direct dividend policy of the investes through the shareholding; and

- Tha ability by XGL to direct the financial end operating performancs of the Investes through "step in” rights,

In the casa of ROI subsidiaries XPS} holds an "A" ordinary share in sach subsidiary which gives i power over the
appointment of the Boerd that controls the company and also XPS| Is antiled to 8 shara of return over and above
pre agread ievels of any dividend deciared. All ather conciisions remain the same as above (albek with the ROI
subsidiaries, the non-controling intsrest Is effactively 100% of the entity's net essets due to the struoture of the
ordinary sharehoiding).

All entities in the Group were given opportunity to exit the Group duning predetermined windows. 4 entities avalled
themeeives of this opportunity during the year ended 31 May 2020 and a further 9 during tha year ended 31 May
2021 {sea note 16),

Management do not consider the prasence of these exi windows o affect their assesament of control since ali
ant/fles were controlled up to the point of this exit option being exercised arkt thorefore these events represent 8
as of cortrol and hence are accounted for as such under the requirements of IFRS 10,

On this basie the Board has concluded that it controls these entilles under IFRS 1{.

b) Impaiment of Goodwill
The Group Is required to test, on an annuel basis, whether goodwill hae suffered any impairment, as an indefinite
iife assat. )t does this by using a two-stage approach:

1. Alocaling the carmying valua of Intangible assats exciuding goodwil] toindividusl cash genarsting unts (CGU's)
and then comparing the canrying value of each CGLU with lie recoverable amount.

2 By testing the Group of CGU'a including the total canying value of all intanglble assats Including goodwill and
alao recognising any Group impairment (See nots 13 for further detalls).

In the opinlon of management, the lavel Bt which gootwill is monitored, together with the lowest identifiable
operating segment In FY21 and FY20 aiso being Identified as the Group as a whole {besad on the fact that the
Chief Operating Declsion Maker only recaives information and makes resourcing/serformance anslysia decisions
at a Group level), means that tha impairment review for goodwill should be conducied et a level that indudes the
whole Group.

Goodwdll erising on business combinations s not amortised. It Is stated at cost less Impaimment value. The
assessment of any Impairment requires management Judgement with regards to identifying what are the CGU's,
deciding on how the goodwlll on consolidation should be alloceted for impairment and aleo estimeting fidure
performance and using appropriate discount ratee when caloulating value in use. Note 13 of the financisi
statements seis oul how the directors decided that it would not be possible to allocate Goodwill on a non-arblirary
basis 1o Individual CAU's and therefors a two-stage spproach to calculating potential impairmant was foliowed, it
also sets out the various other key assumptions in preparing this Impairment review.

Cashflow forecasts for value In use calculations are defivad from a bottom up budgeting approach which take Into

account a combination of intarnal and axtamal factors based on past experfence, Howaver, expectsd cashflows
can be materially uncertain and llable to change over time,
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

c} Ravanue Recognition

in determining the amount of revenue to recognies In relation o contract assete/Nebiifles management are required
fo use judgement and estkriates on tha measurement ¢f this Incoma In accordance with IFRS16. Detalls of thesa
nasets/Mablites are Included at Note 3 of the financial siatements. The valuation is based on an estimate of the
amount to be recovered’due fromfio clients for unbilled [tams based on tme spent, the expertise and skils provided
snd the stage of completion plus payment on account. The principal over this estimation 18 around the
amounts yet 1o be billed or recognised by the cllent, The level of uncertainty Is reduced by the nature of Group
Income belng akmost all recurring income where tha cllent will have an annual invoics and aieo that contingenoy
biling is not 8 malerial ltem for the Group.

d) Impairment of Trade Receivables and Contract Assels

‘The Group makes an estimate of the recoverabls value of radse recelvables and contract aseets. The canying
amount of trade receivables are held at selling price less lifetime estimated credit losses (ECL's). ECL's have besn
estimated based on hisloric credil loases adjusted where appropriate for tha inclusion of management judgement
to account for any forward looking information for epecific olients.

Fulf detalls on Trade Recelivables and Contract Assets are et out in Note 17,

@) Valuation of Acquired Intangible Assats in a business combination.
At 1 Junae 2018, the cost of Intangible assets acquired under the fair view exercise performed by Management's
valuation expert, was £304.3m (£212.5m goodwlll and £81.8m of other intangibles).

The Group's intangible assets are initially measured at fair value In accordance with IFRS3. On 1 June 2010 the
Group acquired 115 subsidiary companies in a shere for share exchange. Full detalla of this are disciosed in note
186,

In estimating the fak value of the intanglble assets, the Group engaged an axtemel valuaton spacialist who
prepared a valuation at 1 June 2018 of cllent relationships, brands/irade name and goodwill arising on the business
cambination.

A mulliple approach wes uillised to value the business based on lack of consblidated performance. Multiples were
derived for & peer group of sultable companies adjusted for slza and profilability ae suitably appropriate.

Brand Assets were valued using a relief from royally method and customer relatlons using a multi-excess samings
method.

Due to the aize and complex nature of the assessment of tha valuation of the Group on its combination on 1 June
2019, a number of assumptions have bean made that are significant o the valuation of the Group and to which the
valyation is materially sensitive to small varlanoes.

The key assumplions o the model and an essessment of the sansttivity within the mode! are as follows:

Assumption +change - change + lmpact on = mpaci on
. valuation valustion
Alocation of member 20 firms move up 20 flems move + £2m intangibla -£2m intangible
firms Into 4 different a tier down a tier assels sssols
tiors
Sensitivity of +0.5% on -0.5% on multiple  + £2m intangible -£2m intangible
considaration and total  multiple assols assols
valuation of the Group
to market multiple
Welghled average + 2.5% sttrition - 2.5% attrition - £8m Intangible + £10m intangible
atirition rate rate rate assets assels
Customer relationahipe  + 0.2 years usefull - 0.2 years useful  + £2m Intangibies left  Amortigation of £2m
useful sconomic e aconomic life ecanoimic kfe &t end of axisting of assets too quickly
useful economic life by end of usefut
aconomic life

During the year, the Group disposed of 9 subsidiaries from Xainadin (note 16) and incurred a loas on disposal on
iosing control of these entities. Management have calculated & multiple that reduces the apporiioned value applied
fo thess entities to £8in (at the value of the multipie used at 1 June 2019, this would have been £14.7m), hence
reducing the loss on disposal by £4.8m.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

if a vartance of 1 x EBITDA wers o happen in the underying workings for calculating thie loss on disposal, then
there would be a corresponding material increase/decrsasd in the loss on disposal accordingly:

- increase in EBITDA mukiple by 1 x: increase ioes on disposal by £2. 1m
- Decraass In EBITDA muitiple by 1 x: decreass [oss on disposal by £2.2m

Management arg comfortable that sulficlant sources of information have boen consulted from a veriety of dale
points to ansure the calculetion of £6m Is materially ressonabls.

During the yeer, several firms left the Group as per note 16. Due to the complex nature of the circumstances
surrounding the loss of condrol of the entittes, Management have had to esfirmate the date upon which control was
kst of several of the entities that left the Group. In making the Judgment as to the dete that these entities departed
from the Group, Management have glven regard to the dooumentation datee upon which control of the subsidiary’s
sheres wes pessed back ¢ the Board, together with the dates on which Board approval wae given for these
subsidiarias to leave the Group and the neturs end dates of corespondence received from subskdieries requesting
to leave the Group

REVENUE
Geographical analysis of tumover
2021 2020

£000 £000
United Kingdom 81,240 83,454
ireland 21,911 26,123
Rest of Europe 329 223
Rest of World , 843 __ 468

- 04923 110,280

Ravenue from contracts with customers
The Group's turnover of £104.1m (2020 £110.3m) consists entirely of contract revenue from clients. No single
customer represants mora than 10% of revenue.

Practksl expedients under IFRS 15
Under IFRS 15 companies are required to disclose the aggregete amount of the transection price altocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfled at the end of the accounting pertod.

For most of the revenue contracts in issuance the company has a right to consideration from the customer in an
amount that comasponds dinactly with the value to the custorner of the business performance completed to date.
Therefore, the Group oonsiders it is impractical ‘o estimate the potential valuo of unsatisfied performance
obligations and has elected 1o apply the practical expedient avallable under fFRS 16. The Group also has ho
material long term, fixed price contracts that excesd a year In length,

Contract balsnces
20214 2020
£'000 £'000

Recalvablas iIncluded in "Trade and other renalvables” 20,20 20,414
Contract asssts
Current

Gontract assets 10,713 10,268
Gontract lisbikities
Current

Eontrad! Habllities 3 274
Contract assets

Contracl assets, which are siated net of expected credit losses, relate o the unbilled work of the subsidiary
companiea at the balance sheet date. |t is expecied that the majorty of the net velus will be billed within the first
two months of the 2022 financisl year. Of the amounts included es contract asgets st 31 May 2020 £481k remained
unbilled at 31 May 2021 and ks recoverabllily has been reassessed.
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REVENUE - continued
Contract liabliities
Contract Nabitiies oulstanding at the balance shest dade relate (o the income recelved in advanca by the subsidiary
companios and it is sxpected that the income will be recoghised as revenue during the first six months of the 2022
financlal year.
OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other oparsting income includes the folowing tems

2021 2020

£000 £000

Granis recelvad 1,872 713
Rent racaived 1988 216
Sundry Income 404 . 373
24T4 1.301

During the year, futough grant manies of £564k (2020: £215k) wera recaived, and hava baen incliided within “granis
racaived” above. The comaspanding costs that these offest are included within the employmant costs s per note 5.

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Wegaes and salaries 44,249 44,823 29 127
Soolal security costs 3,962 3,764 30 6
Other pension casts 2,369 1429 - 4 -
50,880 50,106 363 133

The avarage number of amployees during the year wag as follows:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Directors 10 9 10 ]
Advisory and suppart 1458 1,566 2 1
1& 1,685 12 10
Group Company
2021 2020 201 2020
£'000 £7000 £000 £'000
Direclore’ remunerafion ‘ 780 434 257 : 112

Directors’ remuneration for the Group includes the total amount payabile to the direciors of the parent company
from all compainles within the Group. The amount paid to the highest pald director was £164k (2020 £78k) Inciuding
the impact of employer NIC, remuneration In the yeer for the Group's Key Management Pamonnel amounted to
£868K (2020: £494K) and for the company, £282k (2020: £127k). See note 20 for more Information on Key
Managemeni Parsonnel.

LOSS ON IXSPOSAL OF SUBSINARIES

As set out In Note 16, § subsidiaries loft the Group during the year ended 31 May 2021 (2020 4). These firme
jolned the Group without any cash conelderation being paid and aiso left the Group for no consideration. The loss
on disposal comprises of the disposal of goodwiil end Intangible assels allocated % thess subsldiaries, together
with the profits of thase firms thai have bean recognised sinoe 1 June 2019. On leaving the Group the shares held
by Xeinadin LK Profegsional Services Ltd in the UK subsiciaries and by Xeinadin Profeesional Services (lreland)
Lid In the RO subsidiaries ware convertad inio deferred shares and transferred back io the oviginal shareholdars
at par value. The 1p members shares held in Xelnadin Group Lid by the equily directors of the leaving subsidiares
were convertad Into deferred shares and transferred to Mr Derry Crowley (CEO) at par value and aire hald in trust.

Page 32 continued, .




XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021
FINANCIAL SETTLEMENT

The costs migta 10 an agreed settlement 1o a third party on 17 December 2020 In redation to the formetion of the
Group on 1 June 2018, The cost of £3.1m comprises the full sattiement of £3m net of VAT and legai fees of £0.1m.

OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit e stated after charging/crediting): 2021 2020
£000 £1000
Dapreciation - owned assets 45% 488
Depreciation - igased asssts 2117 1,868
(Profifyloss on disposal of fixed asseis (8) 10
Customer relationships amortisation 8,587 9,257
Brand amortisation 844 910
Fess payable to the group's extarmnal auditor for
the snnusal audit of the financial staternents 520 437
Fees payable to the group’s external auditor and its associates
for the annual audit of subsidlery company financlal statements 167 126
Other fecs payable to the group's external auditor ) 22 2
Financial sattlement 3,099 -
Loas on disnosai of subsicdiaries 15!257 13,093
NET FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
gooc £000
Flnanoe Income:
Deposit account Interest ) 6
Finance costs:
Bank interest 1 4
Bank loan interest 7 19
Laasing 2 204
20 317
Neat finance costs 341 311
Hepasiwmm ——
TAXATION
Analysis of tax expense
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Current tax:
Tex 5,753 6,540
Deferred tax 610 (2176)
Total tax axpansa in consolidated statement of profit or loss 5,383 4,364
Factors affecting the tax expense

The tax a8sessed for the year Ie higher (2020-higher) then the standard rate of corporation tex in the UK. The
difference is explained balow:;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

TAXATION -~ continued

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Profit before taxetion 3,050 13,91
Profit muttiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax In the UK of 16%
{2020 - 19%) 580 2,658
Effects of:
Expenses not daductible for tax purposes 810 168
Other timing difforences {258) (3)
Lass on disposal of subsidiaries 3,089 1,883
Difference In taxation rates In overceas subsidiaries (980) (442)
Uplitt in rats applied to deferved tax to enactad maite of 25% 3,148 -
Tax expanse 8,363 4,364

INVIDENDS

Eivldon;h pald during the year to non-controlling interests in subsidiery compantes amounied 10 £46.1m (2020
12.0m).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Beslc earnings per share is calcuisted by dividing the earnings atiributable to ordinary shareholders by the welghted
avarage nurnber of ordinary ahares outstanding during the period.

Dilsted earnings per share Is celouleled using the weighted average number of sharee adjusted to assume the

canvergion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares,

Raconcliiations are set aut below.

Basic EPS
Earnings edttbutable to ordinary shareholders
Effect of dilutive sacurities

Dilted EPS
Adjusted earnings

Basic EPS
Eamings atiributable to ordinary shareholdars
Effect of dilutive securities

Diluted EPS
Adusted eamings

Pages 34

31.521
Waeighted
avgrage
numbear Per-share
Earnings of amount
£000 shares £
(2115) 2,145 {p88)

31.5.20
Waeighted

average
number Par-share
of amount

£000 shares £

5774 2,281 2,631
5 774 2,281 2,831
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

GO0DWILL
Group

£000
COST
At 1 June 2020 204,921
Additiona 392
Loss of contral (9,862)
Al 31 May 2021 184,751
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021 194,751
At 31 May 2020 204,021
At 1 June 2018 .
impairmant testing

Goodwill arising on business combinations ls not amortised but Is reviewed for mpakment on an annual basis, or
mare frequantly if there are indications that goodwi! may bs impaired.

IAS 36 acknowledes thet sometimes goodwill arising on business combinations cannol be allocated to individual
cash generating units {CGU's) on a non-arbiirary basis, The effect of this e a two stage tesl where;

- Tha cenrying vaiue of goocdwili will not be elfocated to the CCU's 50 al first staga the CGU will be tested for
impairment excluding goodwill ardt any impairment loss recognised;

- The second etage Invoives testing the group of CGU's with the carrying value of goodwlll included in that group
of CGUs, The allocation of geodwill should reflect an aliocation to CGU's, or group of CAU's, that reflects the group
which will benefit from the goodwiil, For impainment review purposes, the allccation shouid refloct the level at which
manragement montior goodwll but should not exceed the size of the operating segment. Any Impalment is then
racognised. The level at which goodwill is afiocated s at Group level. The directors are satisfled that this represents
the lowest levet al which the goodwiil Is monkorad for intemal management purposes and la not larger than an
opoerating segment, The direciors befieve thet the Group operates 88 one operating segment, based on the nalure
of reporting recefved by the Chief Operaling Deolsion Maker in the year ended 31 May 2021.

The recoverable amount {s based on the present value of expected future cesh flowa {value In ues) which was
determined to be higher than the carrying amount 80 no Impairment loas was recognisad. Management have
coneldered the kkely Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on futurs cash flows In their assessment of impeirment.

Cash flow forecasts were based on financial budgets approved by Management covering & five-year petod. Value
Inuse was determined by discounting the fulure cash flows generated from the continuing operatlon of the Group
and at each CGU and was based an Lhe following key assumptions:

Based on FY21 actuals, Management's model bullds in a & year Compound Annual Growth Rete (hereafter
"CAGR") for revenue of §,1%. Assuming 0.0% revenue growth over the next 5 years, with no change fo underlying
margins, there would stil be ¢, £27m headroom. A negative CAGR of -2.2% over the next § years would be required
In order for an iImpairment to be Incurmed, again assuming a constant mangin over the 6 year period,

Managements model conservalively assumes team staff costs Increase In line with revenue CAGR of 4.0%. A
1,0% reduction in the CAGR to 3.0% this would genorate £8.9m of headroom. Management could iso look to
reduoe senlor staff oosts and other overheads as further mitigafing actions. -

A post-iax discount rate of between 10.75% and 10.50 % was applied to each firm based on kcation In determining
the recoverable amount. A post-tax rate of 10.75% (2020 11.0%) wae applied to the UK CGU's (13.3% pre-ax)
and 10.50% (2020 12.0%) ta the Irish CGU's (12.0% pre-tax). The discount rate is based on the Group's average
post-tax wealghted cost of capltal of 10.7% {2020 11.2%).

An absohde Increase of 3.4% in pust-tax welghted cost of capltal would lead to the breskeven point In the modes,
The vaiuse essigned to the key assumptions represent management's estimate of expected future trends and are
based on both extemnal (industry expesience, historic market performance and ourment estimates of risk associated

with trading conditions) end Intemal sources (existing management knowledge, track record and in-depth
understanding of the work types being performed).
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GOODWILL - continued

Increases in cosis ara basad on current inflation rates and expéacted levels of recruitrnent needed to generate
predicted revenue growth.

Attrition ratas are based on the historic axperience and trends of olient activity ovar a three to five-year period and
appied 1o future fee forecasts.

Cash flows have been typlcally asssased over a five-year period. After year 5, management extrapoiates using a
terming! valse calculation bassd on an eetimated growth rate of 2%. This Is based on long-term inflation
expactations for the UK and Ireland.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of tha CGU camying value. The directors
bslieve that any reascnable change in the key sssumptions wauld not causs the aggregate carmying amount to
axceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU, based on the abillty of management {o perform cast saving
adb'iItTvl'E response o polential reduction n revenue that may accur in the short tanm.

Sensl (-]

The Group altributes a monstary vaiue to the acquired goodwht based primarliy on the anticipated fulure cash flows
generated by the customers. Whilst the Group acoounts for customer's attrition and direct costs the main driver
of this value Is the estimatad revenue resuiting from the customers of the Group. Management have estimated a
yaar on yesr growth rata which has been appliad to the model.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group
Customer
relationships Brand Totals
£'000 £'000 £000

cosT
At 1 June 2020 80,500 7,950 88,450
Loss of control (5,300} {380) (5,680)
At 31 May 2021 75,200 1,570 82,770
AMORTISATION
At1 Juns 2020 9,012 979 9,801
Amarilsation for year 8,687 844 8943
Loss of control (838) (61) (6886)
At 31 May 2021 16,764 1,662 48426
NET BOOK VALUE
AL 31 May 2021 58438 5,908 84,344
At 31 May 2020 1 |488 7|071 78,669
At1 June 2019 - n

The cost is based on an independent vaiue prepared on behalf of the directors far the 116 firms acquired on 1 June
2019.

Cllent Ralstionships:

The client relationships were acquired as part of the consolidation which occurred on 1 Juna 2049, This represents
the value atiributed to clients who provide repesi business 1o the Group on the strength of these relationships.
Customer ralaticnships are amortised on a siraight iine bagis over a 7-10 year pericd from 1 June 2019 which
means two yaars have been amortised to dats.

Hrand/Trade Names;

The brandArade names were acguired as part of the consolidation which took placa on 1 June 2019, Member firm
brendsitrade namese are associaled with factors such as a high quality sarvice and trusted ecivice, Brandirade
names are amortised on a stralght ine baals over a 5-10 year period from 1 June 2019 which means two years
have baeen amortjsad to date,

The Group hed the following Intanpible essets that were Individually matarial et the year-and dale of 31 May 2021.
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{NTANGIBLE ASSETS - continued

Remaining useful
Asset - customer relationships Net book value economic e
2021 Years
£000 Yeaors
Tynan Dillon Advisers Limited 2,000 8
Tish Lelbovitch Limited 1,800 8
Tish Press & Company KGE Limited 2,560 B
Williams Biles Professionsl Services Limited 1,840 B
Cobham Murphy PHD Limited 4,180 B
Hallidays Group Limited 2,280 8
Kay Johnson Gee CR Limited 2,120 8
MoLintocks (NW) Limitad 1,860 8
0'Brien & Partners KVE Limited 2,240 8
Phillip Carrall Limited 2,120 B
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
QGroup
Fixtures
and Motor Computaer Sub
fittings vehiclas agquipment total

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
COsT
At 1 June 2020 768 51 1,220 2,049
Addiions 187 A0 339 566
Loss of contro! (204) {61) (87 ~ {352)
Exchange differences {16} (3 {11) 130
At 31 Mey 2021 735 37 1481 2,233
DEPRECIATION
At 1 June 2020 182 1% 283 484
Charge for yoar 130 & a 459
Loss of control {61} (24) (28) {100)
Exchange differences {7) {1) {18) 26
At 31 May 2021 234 U | 581 —t
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021 501 35 800 1,436
At 31 May 2020 806 42 937 1,586
At1 June 2019 - - - .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENYS - continuad

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued

CO8T

Al 1 June 2020
Additions

Loss of control
Exchange differences
AL 31 May 2021
DEPREGIATION

At 1 June 2020
Charge for ysar

Loss of control
Exchange diferences
At 31 May 2021

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021

AL 31 May 2020
At 1 June 2019

Company

COS8T
Al 31 May 2020
Additions

At 31 May 2021
DEPRECIATION
At 31 May 2020
Charge for the year
At 31 May 2021

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2024

AL 31 May 2020

At 1 June 2019

Page 38

Right of
use
assels
£000
11,520
2,465
{1,007)

{103}
12,578

137

Grand
total
£000

13,666
2,731

{1,350)

(133)

14,808
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 21 MAY 2021

INVESTMENTS
Company
Shares in
group
undertakings
£'000

COST
At 1 June 2020
and 31 May 2021 113,113
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 May 2021 113,113
At 31 May 2020 113I113

At 1 June 2019

The group or the company's Invesiments at the Staternent of Finanolel Posltion date in the share capltal of
companies include the folowing:

Subsidiaries

Xeinadin UK Professional Services Limited

8th Floor Becket House, 38 Old Jawry, London, EC2R BDD
Nature of business: Holding Company

Proportion of vating rights, ordinary share capital held 100%

Xelnadin UK Partnerships Limited

8th Floor Becket House, 36 Old Jewry, London, EC2R 8DD

Nature of businees: Dormant Company

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital heid 100%

The company is exempt from audit under S480 Dormancy Regulations of the Companies Act 2006

INVESTMENTS - continued

Xsinadin Professionai Services {irsland) Limited

6th Floor South Bank Mouse, Bamow Street, Dublin, 4
Nature of business: Holding Company

Proportion of vating rights, ondinery share capital held 100%

0On 1 June 2019, Xelnadin UK Professlonal Services Limited (XUPSL'} acquired 51% of the share capital of the
new UK subsidiariee of Xeinadin Group Limited {XGL') (a listing of which ls shown below).

The considaration issued by XUPSL for these sheres was shares lssucd in XGL 10 the equity hoklers of the new
UK Subsidiaries. Since XGL lssued these sharse on behalf of XUPSL, thia has been accounted for es an
addiionel Investment Into XUPSL by XGL, equivalent io the fair value of the controlling shareholding obltsined by
XUPSL within the new UK subsidiarios.

The Group or the company’s investments at the Slatement of Financial Posilion date in the share capiel of
companias Include the following:

UK subsidiaries
A B G Accountancy 2018 Lid {112356661)
The Quadrant Centre, Limes Road, Weybrdge, Surrey, England, KT13 BDH

Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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INVESTMENTS - continued

Acoountax 2018 Lid (11239739)

Meple House, Larch Avenus, Sunninghill, Berkshira, England, SLE 0AW
Nature of businees: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share capksl held §1%

Accounting & Taxation Centre BTD L4d (11453188}

38 Queens Road, Newbury, Berkshire, England, RG20 8EZ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Arthistie Graven IRX Lid (11415046}

Moraton House, 31 High Street, Buckingham, Buckinghamshire, England, MK18 1NU
Nature of businesa: Professional sarvices

Proportion of voting righta, ordinary ahare caplial held 51%

ARA (Bristol) Ltd (11420396)

86 Shirshampton Road, Stoke Bishop, Bristol, England, BS9 2DR
Naiure of husiness: Profassional sarvices

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Arithma Acsountants Lid (11B48732)

9 Mansfiaid Streel, London, England, W1G BNY

Nature of business: Professional services

Proporiion of voting rights, ordinary share paphal held 51%

Arington Accountants Lid (11833678}

7 Hocombe Road, Chandiers Ford, Eastieigh, Hampshire, England, SO53 65L
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of vollng rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

ASC Wylle UBU Ltd (N1652973)

7 Lisbuin Straet, Hilsborough, Co. Down, Northern Iretand, BT26 6AB
Nature of business: Professional services

Propartion of voting rights, ordinary share capltal held 51%

BasrTax Accountants WFC Ltd (11205502)

2 Rose Bank, Bolington, Cheshire, England, SK10 5JA
Nature of business; Professionsl sarvices

Praportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Bennewlth 2018 Ltd (11241883)

¥Ynol House 3 Wey Court, Mary Road, Guildford, Surrey, England, GU1 4QU
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary shara caplital held 51%

Beapoke Accounting 2016 Ltd (11903568)

2-4 Ash L.ane Rustington, Litlehampion, West Sussex, England, BN18 38Z
Nature of buslness: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share caplial heid 51%

Bowker Orford Ltd (11644568)

15/1¢ Cavendish Place, London, England, W1G 0DD
Nalure of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

BRC Accountants PKL Ltd (11318648}

Aldwych House, Winchesier Sireet, Andover, Hampshire, England, SP10 2EA
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capial held 51%

Bushellz Accountarnts 2018 Ltd (11240948)

8 Victorla Avenue, Hammogate, Yorkshire, England, HG1 1ED
Mature of businegs: Profesalonal servicos

Proportion of vating rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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Calcutt Matthews WBZ Ltd (11375532)

18 North Street, Ashford, Kent, England, TN24 8LF
Naiure of business: Professional services

Proporfion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Centurion VAT Specialists ALL Ltd (11847751)

Medin House, 1 Langstone Businass Park, Newport, Gwent, Wales, NP18 2HJ
Nature of business: Professionel services

Proporiion of voting rights, ordinary shere aapital held 51%

Chhaya Hare Wileon CML Ltd {112676857)

Transpori Housa, Uxbridge Road, Hilingdon, Middiesex, England, UB10 OLY
Nature of business: Professional servicas

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital hetd 51%

CMS Accountants 2020 Ltd (11884345}

61 Bryn Street, Wigan, Greater Manchester, England, WN4 §AX
Nature of businees: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capitel heid 51%

Cobham Murphy PHD Ltd (11805373}

116 Duke Streed, Liverpool, England, L1 8JW

Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

David Jonae & Co 2018 Ltd (11239817)

19 Reading Road, Pangboume, Berkshire, Enpiand, RG8 7LR
Natire of business: Professional servioes

Proportion of voiing rights, ordinary share capial held 51%

Davies McLennon Ltd (11410828}

93 Waellington Road Notth, Stockport, Cheshire, England, SK4 2LR
Nature of business: Profassionat servioes

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share captial held 51%

DJIM Ascountants BLJ Lid {11266150)

4 Stirling Court Yard, Stifing Way, Borehamwood, Hertfordehirs, Engiand, WD6 2FX
Nature of buginess: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share cepital held 51%

Egan Roberts Ltd {11410949)

Unk 48 Manor Court, Salesbury Hall Road, Ribchester, Lancashire, England, PR3 3XR
Neture of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Elenan Wall Lid (11548262}

8th Floor Becket House, 36 Old Jewry, London, England, ECZR BDD
Natura of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Fallows & Company CA Ltd (11266080)

Archwey House, 81-82 Portsmouth Road, Swbiton, Surrey, England, KY6 6FT
Nature of business: Professional servicos

Proportion of veting righits, ardinary share cepital held 51%

FD Profossional Services Ltd (118315982)

107-102 Towngate, Leyland, Lanceshira, England, PR25 2LQ
Nature of business: Professional services

Propartion of voting rights, ordinary share capite! held 51%

Fookse & Co 2018 Lid (11238647)

14 High Street, Bargosd, Caephilly, Wales, CF81 8RA
Nature of business: Professlonal servicos

Propartion of voling rights, ordinary share capiial hald 51%
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Hugh Davies & Co LIO Ltd (11205487)

35 Chequers Court Brown Streel, Salisbury, Wiltshire, England, SP1 2A8
Nature of business: Professlonal setvices

Propartion of voling rights, crdinary shara capital held 51%

JW Walah Accountants 2018 Ltd {11241662)

Alblon House, 163-167 King Street, Dukirfiald, Cheshire, England, 8X16 4LF
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Kay Johnson Gee Ltd (11415125)

1 City Road, Manchester, England, M15 4PN

Nature of business: Profesaionsl services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share capltal held 61%

Kay Johnson Gee CR Ltd (11418138)

1 City Road, Manochaster, England, M16 4PN

Nature of butiiness: Corporata recovary servicas
Praportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Les Accounting Sarvices 20118 Ltd (11241654)

26 High Street, Rickmansworth, Herifordshire, Englend, WD3 1ER
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share caphal helkt 51%

Lewis Ballard 8BB Ltd (11845798)

Celtlc House Caxton Place, Pentwyn, Cardiff, Vale Of Glamorgan, Wales, CF23 8HA
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Lucentum Business Services Ltd (11343916}

Kingfisher House, 11 Hoffmanns Way, Chelmsford, Essex, England, CM1 1GU
Neture of businass: Professlonal sefvices

Proportion of vating rights, ardinary share caphtal held 51%

Mariow Proactive Ltd {11405558)

14 Phoenix Park Teiford Way, Coalville, Lelcestershire, England, LE67 3HB
Natura of business: Professional services

Proportion of vating rights, ondinary share cepital held 51%

McGregors CCP Ltd (11395000}

12 Mansflald Dffice Sulte 0.3, Hamilton Court, Manaflald, Nottinghamshire, England, NG1B 6FB
Nature of businees: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Mckenzies ATS Ltd (11410805)

2 Station Road West, Oxted, Surray, England, RH8 9EP
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of vofing rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

McLintocks (NW) Ltd (11836795}

2 Hillerds Court, Chester Business Park, Chestar, Cheshira, England, CH4 9PX
Nature of business: Profassional sarvices

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

McManus Wilhams KGG Lad (11404526)

Suite 2 Bellevue Mansions, 18-22 Bellevue Road, Clevedon, Somersel, England, BS21 7NU
Nature of bueiness: Professional servicas

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share capital held 61%

Meranther Lid {11319655)

1 Strands Barn Strands Farm Lane, Homby, Lancaster, Lancashire, England, LA2 8JF
Nature of buslness: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital hald 51%
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Foster Mann (UK) Limited (11833403)

Unlt 26g Springfiekd Commercial Centre, Bagley Lans, Farsley, Leads, England, L8328 6LY
Nature of business: Professional services

Praportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

GCSD Accountants Ltd (11457078)

701 Sionshousa Park Sperry Way, Stonehousa, Gloucestershire, Englend, GL10 3UT
Nature of business: Profassional sarvicas

Proportion of veting rights, ordinary share capital held $1%

Gray & Co DAN Ltd (11266924)

Springvale, Polloe Station Square, Miidenhall, Suffolk, England, {P28 7TER
Nature of business: Professional services

Proporiion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

GW Jones & Co ICJ Lid (11453079)

Oifica 1 The Coach House 24-26 Station Road, Shirehampton, Bristol, England, BS11 9TX
Mature of business: Profassional servives

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capitat held 51%

Hallidays Group Ltd (1138D881)

Rivarside House Kings Reach Businass Park, Yew Street, Stockport, Cheshire, England, SK4 2HD
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Harvey Smith & Co DVQ Ltd (11356850)

67 Latchingdon Road, Cold Norton, Essex, Engiand, CM3 8HT
Nature of business: Professionat servicee

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share oapltal hekd 51%

Heviands Limitad (11830385}

The Old Grange Warren Estste, Lordship Road, Wiiitle, Essex, England, CM1 3WT
Nalure of business: Profesalonal Barvices

Propottion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Hills Jarrett TXS Ltd (11357076)

Gainsborough House, Sheering Lower Road, Sawbridgeworth, Hertfordshire, England, CM21 8RG
Neture of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

MG Accountants SW Lid (11848532)

6 Palk Strest, Torguay, Devon, England, TQ2 6EL

Nature of business: Profegsional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary shere cepital held 51%

MMP Actcounting Solutions Lt (11842882}
3 Queen Street, Ashiord, Kant, England, TN23 1RF
Nature of businees: Profassional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary sheve caphtal held 51%

Murray Associates ZIKI Ltd (SCS84767)

Murray Associates Accountants Ltd Business First, Linwood Point, Palsley, Renfrewshire, Scotland, PA1 2FB
Nature of business: Frofessional sarvices

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital heid B1%

Nevssham Henson Accountants Lid (11838807)

Edinburgh Houss, 1-5 Bellayue Road, Clevedon, Somereat, England, BS21 7NP
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Nickalis Accountants Ltd (11834183}

4 Bridge Street, Amble, Morpeth, Northumberlsnd, England, NESS 0DR
Nature of business: Profassional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capilel held 51%
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O'Brian & Partners KVE Lid {11453265)

Highdale House, 7 Cenire Court Main Avenue, Treforest ind Esl, Fontypridd, Wales, CF37 5YR
Nature of business: Profassional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Palason Ltd (11459439)

72 Great Sufiolk Street, London, England, SE1 0BL
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capitel held 61%

Paul & Co {Accountants) Lid (11287804)

8 Freatrade Housa, Lowther Road, Stanmors, Middissex, England, HA7 1EP
Nalure of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Palham Accountants 2018 Ltd (11906481)

16 Dudley Street, Grimsby, Lincolnshire, England, DN31 2AB
Nature of business: Professional services

Propartion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Phillip Carroll Ltd (11404925)

10 Ambassador Place Stockport Road, Altincham, Cheshire, England, WA15 808
Nature of business: Professionai services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Rliey Moss 2048 Lid (11242309)

Riley Housa, 183-185 North Road, Preston, Lancashire, England, PR1 1YQ
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

RJG Accountants AKH Lid {11206144)
10 Easl Straet, Farcham, Hampshire, England, PO16 0BN
Nature of businees: Professkonal services
Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Robinzon Sterling SBU Ltd {11281848)

§16d Groan Lane, Iiford, Essex, England, IG3 83E

Nature of business: Profeseional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 61%

Rohans MLIF Ltd (11295452)

Rohans Houss, 92-96 Wellinglon Road South, Stockport, Greater Manchester, England, SK1 3TJ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of vating rights, ordinasy share capital held 51%

Romeey Accountants GDT Ltd (11280077)

Unit 3, Shellay Farm Shelley Lane, Ower, Romsay, Hampshire, England, S081 6AS
Nasture of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

8ee Beyond The Numbers Ltd (11508375)

5t Andrews House Yale Business Vilege, Ellce Way, Wrexham, Wales, LL13 7YL
Nature of business: Professional services

Propostion of voting rights, ordinary share capital hekd 61%

Sole Assoclates SVR Lid (11344101)

3 Park Cour, Py:ford Road, West Byfleet, Surray, England, KT14 8SD
Nature of business: Professional sarvices

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capial held 51%

Stead Robingon HGA Ltd {11378203)

Riddie PIt Farm Penistona Road, Hepworth, Holmfirth, West YYorkahire, Engiand, HDB 2TR
Nalure of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights, ordinary share capital held 51%
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Stewart GNmour & Co. Ltd {(3C600202)

24 Baresford Terrace, Ayr, Scotland, KA7 2EG

Neiure of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Styles & Co JFC Ltd (112660739)

Heather House 473 Warington Road, Culcheth, Warrington, Cheshire, England, WA3 5QU
Nature of business: Profsssional services

Proporln of vuting righis, ordinary share capital held 51%

Tha Profit Kay 2018 Ltd (11239127}

10 Lower Church Street, Ashby De La Zouch, Leicestershire, England, LEGE 1AB
Nature of businesa: Professionsl services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary shere capital held 51%

THP Glasgow Ltd (SC598861)

140 Baltic Chembers 50 Wellington Street, Glasgow, Scofland, G2 6HJ
Nature of business: Professionsl services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Tish Lalbovitch Ltd (112662082)

249 Cranbrook Road, Iford, Essex, England, 31 4TG
Nature of business: Professional servicas

Proportion of voting rights, erdinary share capital held 51%

Tish Press & Company KGE Ltd {11266092)

27 Cambridge Park, Wanstead, L.ondon, England, E11 2PU
Nature of business: Professional sarvices

Proportion of voting rights, erdinary share capital hald 61%

Tony Jacques YDD Ltd (11404789)

Kingfigher House, 140 Notlingham Road, Long Eaton, Nottinghamshire, England, NG10 2EN
Nature of business: Professional services

Praportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital hald 51%

TSH Professional Services Ltd {14447478)

89 High Street, Thame, Oxfordshire, England, OX9 3EH
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary shere capitel held 51%

Tudor John Ltd {11410130)

Nightingale House, 46/48 East Strest, Epsom, Surrey, England, KT17 1HQ
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting righta, ordinary shere capital held 51%

Waaver Wroot Ltd (11238991)

Burlington House, 28 Dudiey Street, Grimsby, Lincainshire, England, DN31 2AB
Nature of business: Professionel services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Wiitams Gllos Profeasional Services Ltd (11411023)

12 Conqueror Court, Sittingboumns, Kent, England, ME10 5BH
Nature of business; Professionsl services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Wilshers DEJ Lid (11943231)

10 Heathiield Terrace, Chiswick, London, England, W4 4.JE
Nature of business: Professional services

Praportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Wren Profassional Sarvices Ltd (11832732)

4 Cross Street, Beeston, Nattingham, Nottinghemshire, England, NGS 2NX
Nature of business: Professlonal sarvioas

Proportion of voting rights, ordinery share caphtal held 51%
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Xobra Accounting IHC Lid (11425351)

5 Funtley Court, Funtley Hill, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO16 TUY
Nature of business: Profeesional servicee

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Xynamo 5 Lid (11241218}

14 South Way, Newhaven, East Sussex, England, BNS BLL
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights, ordinary share capital held 51%

Republic of Ireland subsidiarias

BGC Accountants Ltd

Duklin Road, Ashboume, Co. Meath, Ireland
Nature of business: Profasslonal services
Proportion of vating rights 100%

Camden Accounting Limitad

Olympk: House, Pleasants Strest, Dublin 8, inelend, DOBHE7TX
Nature of business: Professionat servicos

Proportion of voting rights 100%

Coyne Accountancy Gslway Limited
“The Halls, Quay Strest, Gahway, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights 100%

Cregan Accounting Lid

Broadmeadow Hall, Applewoad Vilage, Swords, Co. Dublin, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights 100%

Crowiey & McCarthy Accountancy Limited

Unit G West Cork Technology Park, Clonaklity, Co. Cork, ireland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of voling rights 100%

Delog Ltd

Lacken House, Dublin Road, Kikenny, Ireland, RO5 KF34
Nature of business: Professional services

Propostion of voting rights 100%

DFS$ & Co Accounting Limited

Innovation Houee, Ballybrit Business Park, Ballybrit, Co. Gaway, ireland
Nature of business: Professlonal services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

DMN Accountants Ltd

Unit A4, Block A, Santry Business Park, Santry, Dublin 9, lreland, DOg P2Y4
Nature of business: Profassional services

Proportion of voling rights 100% _

FCOS Financlal Services Qutsourcing Lid

Unit G West Cork Technology Park, Clonakilly, Co. Cork, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of votlng rights 100%

JWM Accountants Ltd

13 14 South Main Street, NAAS, Cao. Kiidare, ireland
Neture of business: Professional services
Proportion of voting rights 100%
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Kan Herbert & Go, Ltd

tvydena House, Dublin Street, Klldare Town, Co. Kiidare, Ireland
Nature of businass: Professlonal services

Propartion of voting rights 100%

Kinsells Mitchell and Associates Lid

Finance House, 46 Prussia Street, Dubiin 7, freland, DOT VWDY
Naiura of business: Professlonsl services

Proporilon of voting rights 100%

LHB Accounting Limited

93 Malahlde Road, Clontarf, Dubtin 3, Ireland
Nature of business: Professional services
Progortion of voting rights 100%

NManhus Brady Accountancy Services Ltd

Bfock A, Cashel Business Cantre, Cashel Road, Dublin 12, Ireland, D12 XY86
Nature of business: Professional services

Proportion of vating rights 100%

O'Brien Neenan & Co, Ltd .

SL. Joseph's, Wikon, Bishopstown Road, Cork, lreland, T12 E270
Neature of business: Profassional services

Proportion of voling rights 100%

O'Donovan Lavin & Co (Limerick) Lid

1 Mount Kennett Placs, Henry Strest, Limerick. Ireland, VB4 NP28
Netura of businese: Professional services

Proportion of voting rights 100%

OKelly Sutton Limited

Scarton Houss, Priory Court, Kildars, treland
Nature of business: Profesalonal sarvices
Proportion of voling righte 100%

O'"Mahony Donnelly Lid

10 MeCurtaln Hill, Clonakilty, Co. Cork, Irelard, PB5 K230
Nature of business: Professionel sesvices

Proportion of voting rights 100%

RTW Accounting Services Lid

16 Woodstown Village Centre, Knocklyon, Dublin 16, iretand
Natura of business: Professional services

Proporlion of voting rights 100%

Somoers Murphy & Earl Business Advisory Sarvices Ltd
48 Upper Mount Strest, Dublin, Irefand

Nature of business: Professional services

Proporiion of voting rights 100%

Tynan Dillon Advisers Ltd

74 Northumberland Road, Dublin 4, Ireland
Natura of business; Professional services
Proportion of voting rights $00%

Xslnadin Group Limited (XGL) was formed in 2018 for the specific purpose of being the holding company for the
consolidation of a large number of accountancy praciices. The consolidation of 115 subsidiary companies was
completed on 1 June 2018 and was complated via a share for share exchange, axcept for the opening net working
capital, plant and equipment and leased assets of £7,305k which weve sffected by an intarcompany hive-up. The
completion of this consolidation resuited in Xeinadin UK Professional Services Limited (a 100% subsidiary of XGL)
holding 51% of the ordinary shara caplial In each of the UK subsidiaries and Xeinadin Professlonal Services
(lretand) Limkted holding an "A* Ordinary share In each of the irish subsidiaries. This "A” Ordinary share gave XGL
via XPSIL the power to appoint and contral the board of directors of the Irish subsidladas and also had an
entilement to a retum on Investment cver a prescribed minimum dividend In eash Irlsh subsidiery.
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The accounting policy note 2 on tha basis of conaolidation explaing how In accounting for this transaotion XGL 18
not the acquiror bt ls the acquiree. The question arises who la the acquiror and using the patameters sst out In
IFRS 3 App B, this has baen identified 88 CMC Accourtiancy Limited. This ks known es a reverse acquisition. The
acobuniing treatment that has been appilad in reapect of tha reverse takeover is aa follows:

- The asset and liablities of the legal subskilary CMC Aocountancy Limited are recopnised and messured In the
Group finanalel statements at the pre-combination carrying amounts withaut restatement to fair value;

- The retakned eamings and other equity balances recognised in tha Group financial atatements reflact the retained
eamings and other reserves of CMC Immediately prior 1o the business combiriation. Tha combination oceurred on
1 June 2012 therefore CMC had no profits In the year {0 date and the subsidiaries contributed to consolldated profit
for the year ended 31 May 2020,

- The ghare capital structure in the Group financial stalements reflects the share structure of Xelnadin Group Limited
inoluding the equity instruments lssued to affact the business combination, the cast of the combination has been
determined from the perspeciive of CMC;

- In @ reverse acquisition the valve of tha consideration shares I& measured by the falr value of the notional number
of equity Instruments that CMC would have to lssus to give the owners of XGL the same ownership in the combined
antity. In this case, the falr value has been derved throuph considering the falr value of the CMC business at the
soquisition date of 1 June 2010 as vaiuad by the Valations Profagsional. Thie acquisition |s compiicated by the
acquisition of the remalning subsidiaries consacuently an altamative approach must ba taken io the fair vaiue of
the consideration using what is considered the most reliable measure. In the opinion of the directors a more rellable
measure is the market value of the XGL. shares which is the fair value of the business basexi on market multiples.

ACQUIISITIONS
On 1 June 2019 Xeinadin Group Limited acquired an interest in 116 subsidiary companies.

London Restof Republicof Total

UK ireland
£900 £000 £'000 £:000

Right of use agsets 1,322 4,347 973 5,642
Plant and equipment 383 536 349 1,277
Brand 2,570 3850 1,030 8,380
Customer refationships 23,930 40,850 18,650 83,450
Trade recelvables 1,303 1,205 # 2,549
Prepayments and accrued Income 553 569 78 1,220
Contract sssots 2,106 4,439 526 7,011
Other debtors 168 236 23 427
Cash and cash equivalents __18 503 23 934
TOTAL ASSETS . 32683 _ 56654 22,593 111,930
Trede payables 144 247 - 81
Acoruais and other payables 53 873 21 947
Contract liabiities 180 1,281 - 1,434
Right of use liabilities 1,338 4,283 973 6,584
Intercompany balances 1425 2,724 370 4,518
Other creditors 2,327 1,078 57 3482
Defesved tax arising on goquisition {due to fair value of

brand and customer relationships) 4,721 7958 3,664 16,243
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,188 18,414 8,088 33687
TOTAL IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS AT FAIR

VALUE 78,243
Goopdwill arising on acquisition 212,517

RATI
TOTAL CONSIDE ON m,rso
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The non-controling intersat on scquisition of £178m was determined by caloulating the proportional share of
identifled net assets atirfoutable to the non-oontrolling Interest (LK 48%, ROI 100%).

As eot out above the Group acquired a 51% Interest in 89 subsidlaries based in the UK ae parl of the large
consolidetion of accountancy practices. Total consideration was £221m and was paid by the share for shere
exchangs in XGL shares.

In addition, 28 subsidiaries were acquired in the Republic of Ireland for a totel consideration of £69m which was
also satted by the lssue of XGL shares.

The commeroiat retionala for the deql reflacts the (roup's expected profit opportunities (both opporiunisiic and
synerglstic) from the combined powar of all 116 entities working together, Through delivery of services el a regional
and hub leve, supporied by the investment In a centralised infrastructure (finance, IT and marketing), the Growp is
expected to generate greater profitabliity and benefit from the combined power of the structure. Management note
that the remaining goodwill of £184,8m (2020: £204.0m) (note 13) Is sufficiently covered by the value in use
expecied to be ganerated by the Group on a forward projecting basis,

The goodwill that was generated on the combination of the husinesses together principally reflects the combined
eaming (snd sals) potential for tha Group aa & whole, in addition to the collactive skilic and expertise of its pecple.
Goodwill is not expectsd o be tax deductible,

As noted previously, aside from the hive-up of the net working capital, plant and equipment and leased assats Into
the Group from the previous trading companies, which were settled through inception of intercorpany balances,
the entlre transaction was undertaken through = share for share exchange.

Transaotion ¢osts Incurred by the Group as a whole ware immatarial,
There were no cash flows made specificaly in raspact of tha acquisition of the Group ae materially, the combination
was effected through a shara for shate exchange. There were no acgulsitions during the yeer onded 31 May 2021,

PISPOSALS

During the vear ended 31 May 2021 the Group disposed of ta shareholding In © {2020: 4) subsidiary companles,
The procesds of disposal were nil end fhere was a 1oss on disposal of £168.3m. Further information relating to the
loss on disposal can be found In Note 6. Theee do not mest the requirements of IFRS 5 for presentation me a
dlsolgnﬂnued operation since thay do not represant major geographical cperations or major separate lines of
business.

The Group disposed of subsidierios as follows: -

31 May 2021

BBK Accountants BMM Ltd 1 June 2020

JP Egan Lid 1 June 2020

OPL Accountants Lid 31 October 2020
Baker Clarke FDY Ltd 30 November 2020
Thurles Accountants Lid 30 November 2020
Kevin Kearney Assoctates MII Ltd 26 March 2021

Joy Lane & Co L.td 21 May 2021

RWB 2018 Ltd 31 May 2021

The Hudson Partnership Ltd 31 May 2021

31 May 2020

Lalor O*Shea MeQuilien Ltd 1 March 2020
Rawienca and Browne UDY Lid 29 May 2020

A.T. Blacklay and Co Lid 31 May 2020
Burrow and Crowe Acsouniants Lid - 31 May 2020
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Campany
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £'000 £'000 £000

Cument:
Trade receivabies 20,201 20414 1 -
Amountt owed by group undertakings - - 688 248
Other dabtors 1,588 1,683 75 -
Prepayments 1,992 1,880 42 3

23,781 23 887 808 279
Trade recsivables

The average crediit period on trada recsivables is 71 days (2020: 67 days). No interest is charged on outatanding
recelvables, The Group doas not hold any coliateral. The carying amount of trade and other recaivables
approximates the fair value,

The Group has adopted the simplified model as the assets are all baslc and therefore lifelime expected credit
losses are assumed.

The Group recognises a loss allowance of 13.24% (2020-12.8%) for reoaivablas over 120 days. These accounts
include a loss allowance of £0.7m (2020- £0.7m} in respect of theae debts ovar 120 days. Based on historical
expariance this is considerad adaquate as many cusiomers are slow payers and will require repeeat services.
Therefore, wiil nesd 1o settle the fees before any additional services are provided.

Other than as disciosed below for the expected credi losa raie, there has baen no change In the estimation
techniques of significant assumptions made during tha current reporting period. In addition to the historical elemant
of the aredit loas exparience the Group has considerad & combination of formard-looking information cut by industry
exposure to macro-economic factors inchiding the impadt of Covid-18.

The following table details the risk profila of trade recelvables and contract assets based on tha Group's provision
matrix.

Gross cammying Lifetime

Trade recelvables due days at 31 May 2021

Expocted
axpected credit cradit loes rate

amount
losses
£000 £000 %
Current 9,000 92 1.04
More than 30 days 3,211 59 1.8%
Mors than 60 days 2,045 64 314
More than 90 days 1,418 85 4.60
More then 120 days 5,435 718 1321
—2L13 28 Chil
2021 2020
E£'000 £'000
Trade receivablas and contract assets
Trada receivables 21,199 21,474
Contract assets 10,836 10,694
Expected oradit losaes {1,121) £1,388]
Net trade receivables and contract assets 30,914 30,702
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES -continued

Expacted credil loss
At 31 May 2020
Increane during the year
Utilisad during the yeer
At 31 May 2021
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group
201 2020
£000 £000
Bank accounis 18,267 16,143
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
. Group
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Currant:
Trade payablas 1,908 1,787
Amounts owed to group undertakings - -
Soofal security and cther taxes 8,853 9,400
Other creditors 6,038 7,468
Acorued sxpenses 3,148 4,660
REXTT) 23,315

Trade payable¢ and accrusia comprise amounts outstanding for trade purcheses and ongoing coats, The carying

amount of frade and other payables epproximates the fair value.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS

Group
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Current:
Bank loans 300 323
Other loans 204 323
Leases (sea note 20) 1,800 2,082
2403 2,728
Non-curent:
Bank loans 882 950
Cther ioans 13 25
Lsases (see note 20) 7,795 7,793
8,770 8,788

Page &1

2021 2020
£'000 £000
1,368 -
305 1,367
(840} 1)
1,121 1,366
2021 2020
£000 £'000
279 247
Company
2024 2020
£'000 £000
124 30
232 118
126 72
2 1
830 686
1,124 807

Company
2021 2020
£000 £000
—cc—
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -~ continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 21 MAY 2021

LEASING
Group
Right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
COST OR VALUATION
At 1 June 2020 11,520 -
Addlitions 2,165 11,620
Loss of control {1,007) -
Exchange differences _{103) -
12,67% 11,520
DEPRECIATION
Al 1 June 2020 1,864 -
Charge for yaar 2417 1,868
Loss of control (315} -
Exshange differences __[228) )
JA3B 1,864
NET BOOK VALUE 9,137 9,656

The right-of-use assets relaie predominately to office faclities occupled by the employees of the subsidiary
compamies who provide professicnal services to their customer bass.

The Qroup does not consider that there would ba any matenal impact on the business should extensions not be
granted to the exisling leases or If early tarmination was required by olther the Group or the lessors.

The internel borrowing rate used Is the rate appartaining to the individual subsidiary companies who are the perties

to the leases, the Intemal borrowing rate varles acrass the Group between 3% and 5%
Group

2021 2020

£'900 £000
Leases
At 1 June 2020 9,876 -
Additions on businass combinations - 6,642
Additions 2,165 4,878
Loss of control (G88) -
Lease payments In year {2,088) (1,839)
Interest unwinding 332 204

3,505 9,875
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

LEASING - continted

Lease Habillties
Minkmum lease payments fall due as follows:;
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Gross obiigations repeyable:
Within ohe yaar 2,089 2424
Between one and five years 8,517 8,797
10,808 11,221
Finance charges rapayable:
Within ona year 289 342
Befween one and five years _T22° 1,004
1,011 1,346
Net obligations repayable:
Within one year 1,800 2,082
Betwsen ona and five years . 1,795 7,793

At 31 May 2021, the Group Is committed to £0.6m (2020-£9.8m) in future laase payments, none of which relates
to shart-termn Jeases. The carrying amount of the lease flabliitles approximates the falr vajue.

The Group's obligations ane secured by the lessors’ title to the leased offices which have a carrying valus of £8,1m
(2020-£8.7m). The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regand to its lease llabiitiss and these are
montiored as parl of tha overall procass of maneging cash flows.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Group

Classes and categories of financial Inetrurments and their falr valuas

The statement of financial position is anelyeed below;

Falr value through  Balance In the statement of

Amortised cost profit or loss financial position
204 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Trade and other
recelvahles 21,780 21,997 - - 21,789 21,907
Cesh and bank
balances 18,267 16,143 - - 18,267 18,143
Contract asssts 40,713 10,288 - - 10,713 10,288
Trade and other
payables 11,081 13,916 - - 11,001 13,915
Lease llablities 9,605 8,875 - - 9,505 9,875
Loans and
borrowings 1578 1,621 - - 1,578 1,621

Tha financlal instruments are staled at thelr amortised costs.

Tha Group Is exposed to the following financiel risks from Ks use of financlal Instruments which mainly comprise of
trade recelvables, contract assels and cash.,

Market risk
The Group Is exposed te interest rate and foreign exchange rates,
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS = continued

a) Interest rate

The Group exposure 1o Interest rate risk i low as It only has a small amount of bank loans. The group does not
use derivetive instruments to reduce is economic exposure o change In interest rates. A 1% Increass in interost
rates would give rise to an increase of £15,780 In Interest charges.

b) Forelgn exchange risk

The majority of the Group's seles are made, end iIncome is sarmed, in GBP with the balance in Euros.

The Group does not hedge the Impact of axchange rate movements arising on translation of eamings into stering
at average exchange rates. The folowing ls the Eurcs rate applied during the year:

Euros to GBP: Average rate x 0.8806 (2020: 0.8775), closing rate x 0.8604 (2020; (,9004).

The majority of the Group's transactions are carried out in the respective fundtional currencies of the group's
operations and 9o transaction exposure is minimal, Given the mininal nature of theae exposures the group doas
not have any ceshfiow hedging instruments.

Cradlt risk

This le the rigk that counterparties to financial instruments da not perform according to the terms of the contract or
Instrument. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The board consider this 10 be 2
lower risk because the nature of business Involves a high volume and low value transactions. The credit risk is
spread ovar a large number of unrelated counterparties and customers. In addition, the Group holds long standing
relationahips with a very large percentage of its customers and closaly moniiors the credit worthiness of customers
and reviews aged analysis reporte. if amounts are no longer consldered recoverable, they are wattten off, The
Group applled IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expecied credit losses which uses a Helime expecied loss
allowance for lrada receivables and contract assets. The expected kas rates derlved from this assesement are
adjusted 10 reflect current and forward thinking information affecting the abllity of customers to pay. The Group has
aver 40,000 customers, the langest of which generates total fees of less than £200,000 and as a consequence the
cradit risk s widely spread and the Group has no exposure 10 any one single customer. Cash balances are held
with strong rated commercial banks and therefore the credit sk is axpectad to be low.

Liquidity risk

This Is the risk that the Group cannot meel its finandial obligations as they fall dus. This Is considerad to be a low
tisk &8 the Group has significant cash reserves and very low borrowing levels. in order to minimise the risk the
board reguiarly montors forecasts and actual cash flows in order to ensure the Group can mest its obligations.

The below table shows the gross, contraciual cash fiow commitments on the Group's financlal Habilties.

Gross Falling FaMing Falling due in Falling due in
Carrying contractual  duein due In 1.2 2-5 yoars 5+ yoars
2021 amount cash flows yoar yoars
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

Trade and other
payables 11,001 11,091 11,001 - - -
Bank and other
ans 1,578 1,664 615 438 600 11
Lease kebilities 9,505 10,608 2,080 2,278 6,242 .
Total 22,264 23,381 13,708 2,713 6,842 11

Sross Falling Falling Falling due in Falling due in

Carrying contractual  duein1 due In 1-2 2-5 yaare 5+ years
2020 amouni onsh flows yoar years
£'000 £000 £1000 £000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other
payables 12914 13,814 13,014 - - -
Bank and other
loans 1.621 1,759 711 318 679 151
|.sasa liabllitles 9,876 11,224 2,424 4,298 4,489 -
Total 26,411 26,894 17,049 4,616 5,078 159
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

DEFERRED TAX
Group
2024 2020

£'000 - £'000
Balance at 1 June 2020 13,928 -
Ariging on caphtelisation of intanglbles - - 16,104
Relsased on amortisation of intangibles {1,878) {1,788)
Released on disposal of inlangibles {832) ~ ~ (B06)
Accelarated capital asilowances 1 114
Re-measurement of tax to enactad rate of 25% 3,119 -
Balanoe at 31 May 2021 . 14,538 13,928
The balance comprises:
Amount attributable to Intengibles 14,423 13,814
Accelaratad capital allowances 115 114
Belance at 31 May 2021 14,538 13,928
Company

20 2020

£000 £000
Accelerated capital alowances 8 -
Losses canied forward {1 -
Batance at 31 May 2021 5 -
The balance comprises:
Accelarated capital allowances 5 -

Deferrad tax lisblittes have bean measurad at the rate thay are expectsd to unwind at, using rates substantively
anacted at 31 May 2021.

CALLED UP SHARE GAPITAL
Aliotied, issued and fully pald:
Number: Class: Nominal 2021 2020
value; £ £
2,019 Member shares Qi 20 2
16,310 Dsfarrad shares Riy] 104 102
124 124

The holders of the member shares hava full voting rights, the right to receive dividends and the right io share in
any ratum of capital. The holders of the deferred sharas have no rights other than to a return of capital at par value.

RESERVES
The purpose of each reserve |5 as follows:

Retalned eamings

This represents disiributable profits samed since the formation of the Group, net of dividends pald to the holders
of the equity of the Group.

Share premium
This represents the porion of the excess value of the shares Issued in exchenge for the acquisltion of the Group's
subsidiades as part of the combination on 1 June 2018, as attributable to the holders of the aquity of the Group.

This includes the premiurn In respact of Crowiey & McCarthy Accountancy Limited’s acquisition of Xeinadin Group
Limtad as reverae actuirer.

Raeverse acquisition resarve

This reserve was created on the reverse taksover of Xeinadin Group Limited by Crowley & MoCarthy Accountancy
Limied.
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XEINADIN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021

RESERVES - continued

Non-controling interast

This reprosents the portion of the excess value of the shares issusd in exchange for the aogquisition of the Group's
subsidiaries as par of the combinetion on 1 June 2018, as atiributable non-controlling sharsholders of the Group.
in addition wo thie the profits for the yeer s sattributable to the non-controlling interests, net of dividends paid, are
represented within this reserve.

PENSBION COMMITMENTS

The Group operates defived contribution schemas. During the year the Group contributed £2.4m (2020; £1.4m).
There were oufstanding contributions &t the balance aheet date of £0.2m (2020: £0.2rm) included within other
creditors.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent llabiliies ara possible obligations whose existence depends on the oulcore of unceriain future events
or prasent obligations whera the oufflow of resources Is uncertain or cannot be measured refiably.

Contingent liabilties are not recognised in the finandial staternents but are disclosed unlees thay are remotse.

The Group maintains Professional Indemnity nsurance and cen confim that there sre no malerial claime
oufstanding relating to the period since the Group was formed on 1 June 2019.

Similarly, the Group does not have any matenal exposure on Property Dilapidations.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the b£:1anoe sheet date the Group had no material commitments In respact of property, plant and eguipment
(2020: £nil).

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Transaction amount Balance owed

2021 2020 2021 2020

£'000 £000 £000 £'000
Companies in which Directors or thelr
immadiets family have a
significant/controlling Interast
Incarma earned from related parties 8535 131 114 48
Purchases from related parties 302 287 11 A

The key management personnel comprise of the Group board whe plan, control and monitor the activities of the
Group. Details of their rernuneration are given In note 5.

The subsidlary undertakings listed in note 16 are related parties of the parent company. The transactions antered
into with subsidiaries during the year are eliminated on consolidation. These transactions includa management
charges and charges for the cost of Bervices provided.

The tolal amount of transactions entared with subsidiaries during the year was as follows:

2021 2020

E000 £000

Income aarned from subsidiaries 5119 1,263
Dividends received from subsidiaries (included In Income above) 3,058 -
Purchases from subskdiaries kg 361
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Since the balance sheel date, the Qroup has continued 1o suocessfully navigate the business through the Covid-
19 pandemic end related lookdowns. The Group is in advanced negotiations with a number of accountancy
practicas to acquire thoge praclices as part of the Xsinadin Group. The Xeinadin Group expecis o fund the
acquisition of these entities by an aquity transaction.

Tax rates with effect from 1 April 2023 are expected to rise to rise 10 25% in accordance with the fact that the
Finance Bill has received royal essent, Given the substantive enactment of this tax rete on 24 May 2021, the
deferred tax balance (sea note 23) haa besn re-measured by £3.1m to factor in the impact of the hipher rate.

In October 2021, the Group successfully agreed the purchase of 100% of the share capitel of a targat company o
join the Xeinadin Group, on the basis of total cash consideration payatle of £2.0m, £1m will be payable by end of
March 2022 and two further instaiments of £0.6m will be payable on the first and second anniversaries of the inital
payment dete. Given the proximity of this event to the date of signing these financial statements, management
have not yet conducted a purchase price allocation axarcise on the acqulisition.

Further potential acquisitions heve been targeted and ars at varying stages, induding 3 entfities that have sgreed
Heads of Tamms with the Group.

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES FROM FINANGCING ACTIVITIES

The following le & reconoiliation of tash flow and non-cash flow movements relating to the financing of the Group,
in aocordence with the requirements of 1AS 7.44(A).

Year ended 31 May 2021 New Intorest Non Total

2020 Reptymente loans pald cash 2021

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

Long term borrowings 975 - 440 (5) (435) 975

Short terms horrowings 646 {482) - 2 441 803

Lease liablitles 9876 | {1,758) - {332) 1,808 9,895
Total debt liabilities 11,498 {2,238) 440 1339) 1,814 11,473

Year anded 31 May 2020 New Interest Non Tolal

2019 Repayments loans paid cash 2020

£000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

L.ong term borrowings - - 975 {11) 11 816

Short term borrowings - (91) 737 {8 8 646

Lease llablities - {1.645) - 204) _ 11,814 9875

Total debt Nabikties . {1,736) 1,712 4313) _ 11,833 . 11498

The “not-cash” Htems to the above are primarily in relation to tha taking on of new leases which oreste a large
upfront leass lability without cash changing hands, In addition to changes in the maturity profile of borowings as
future Jnstaimsnts fall due, ’

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group |2 not subject to efther Intemally or extemally imposed capital requirements. The Group's objeciive whan
managing capital is to provide sufficient resources to aliow the growth and development of the Group In order fo

safeguord the Group's ablitly to continue as & golng concern, 5o that it can comtinue 0 provide retums for
shareholiders.

The Group menagas capltal by regulardy monHaring s cument and expected Fquidity requirementa rather than
using dabl/equity retio analyses, No changes were mada in objedtives, palicies and processes durlng the current
or previous year.

The Group does not consider anything other than share capital in this assessment.
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